Summons to Meeting
Thursday 25 August 2022

Development Panel
Tuesday 6 September 2022, 10.00 am
Council Chamber, Allerdale House
Membership:
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair)
Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor Jimmy Grisdale
Councillor George Kemp
Councillor Alan Smith

Councillor Janet Farebrother (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Daniel Horsley
Councillor Antony McGuckin
Councillor Alan Tyson

If you have any questions or queries contact Kathryn Magnay on
kathryn.magnay@allerdale.gov.uk.

Agenda
1.

Minutes (Pages 3 - 16)
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 9 August 2022.

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declaration of Interests
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4.

Questions
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two
clear working days before the day of the meeting.

5.

OUT/2019/0017 - Beech Grove, Seaton - Outline application for 8 dwellings
with all matters reserved except access (Pages 17 - 44)

6.

OUT/2022/0010 - Land at Causeway Head - Outline planning application for
residential development with all matters reserved (resubmission) (Pages
45 - 58)

7.

FUL/2022/0118 - Land adjoining Barncroft, 16 High Seaton - Proposed
detached dwelling (Pages 59 - 72)

8.

LBC/2022/0029 - Pear Tree House, Blenerhasset - Listed building consent
for replacement of windows, repairs to the east chimney and repairs to
painting to external walls to all elevations of the property (Pages 73 - 80)

9.

FUL/2022/0151 - Allerdale Customer Service Centre, Fairfield Car Park,
Cockermouth - Provide detached smoothie hut (Pages 81 - 88)

10. WTPO/2022/0010 - Hill Farm, Causeway Road, Seaton - Proposed felling of
t1 and t5 because of Ash dieback (Pages 89 - 96)

Programme Director,
Transformation &
Operating Model

Date of Next Meeting:
Tuesday 4 October 2022, 10.00 am
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Agenda Item 1
At a meeting of the Development Panel held in on Tuesday 9 August 2022 at 10.00 am
Members
Councillor Tony Annison (Chair)
Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Paul Scott
Councillor Alan Smith

Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor Jimmy Grisdale
Councillor Antony McGuckin
Councillor Andrew Semple
Councillor Alan Tyson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Janet Farebrother, Councillor
Carole Armstrong, Councillor Daniel Horsley and Councillor George Kemp
Staff Present
I Fairlamb, K Hampson, K Magnay, J Morgan and R Wilson
Also Present
P Barnard, Highways Cumbria County Council and J Alexander
115.

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 July 2022 were signed as a correct
record.

116.

Declaration of Interests
Councillor A Smith declared an interest in item FUL/2022/0105

117.

Questions
None received.

118.

FUL/2021/0067 - Princess Street, Workington - Demolition of existing two
storey building and the construction of a two storey mixed use building
accommodating 2 nos. retail units at ground floor with 7 no. apartments at
first floor, alongside 3 no. town houses.
Representations
A letter of objection was read out on behalf of Brenda Willis and Harry Branney
A letter of support was read out on behalf of the Agent, Craig Welsh.
Highways Consultant, Phil Tilby spoke in support of the application.
Application
The Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Wilson recommended to approve the
application subject to conditions be delegated to the Chief Officer – Place and

Page 3

Governance of the Planning Manager subject to the signing of a section 106 to
secure a sum of £6000 to cover a traffic regulation order to undertake highway
road marking and parking alterations.
Should the legal agreement not be satisfactorily completed within 3 months,
then it is requested that the powers to refuse the proposal be delegated to the
Chief Officer, Place and Governance on the basis that those measures
necessary to make the development acceptable in policy terms have not been
secured through necessary legal agreement.
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main
issues within the report as follows:


Principle of Development (Residential)
The principle of residential development is acceptable. The site is located
within the settlement of Workington and is previously developed land.
The proposal complies with Policies S3 and S5.



Principle of Development (Retail)
The sequential assessment shows that there are no sequentially
preferable sites that are available, suitable and viable. The proposal
therefore accords with Policies S16 and DM8 and the retail development
is acceptable in principle.



Layout of Development
The layout of the development is in keeping with the character of the
area and accords with Policy S4. The scheme has been revised so there
is now only 1 access off Frazer Street and 3 town houses are proposed
to provide a compliant level of residential car parking.



Highway Safety
The proposal will not be harmful to highway safety.



Residential Amenity
Residential amenity can be safeguarded during demolition and
construction activities, through the provision of a construction
management plan and from restricting hours/ days of operation and for
deliveries, secured through planning conditions.

Members questioned Planning Officers and Cumbria County Council
Following member discussions, Councillor A McGuckin proposed to refuse the
application, concerns over the traffic management with the effects on traffic
safety and parking congestion.
Councillor A Smith seconded.

Page 4

A vote was taken: 6 voted in favour of refusal, 5 against, 0 abstentions
Decision
Refused
119.

OUT/2019/0017 - Land at Beech Grove, Seaton - Outline for 8 dwellings
Representations
Aileen Brown, Seaton Parish Council spoke in objection to the application.
Application
The Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Wilson recommended to approve the
application subject to conditions 1 - 20.
The Senior Planning Officer advised members the key conditions to consider
were 5, 6 and 14.
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main
issues within the report as follows:


Principle of Development
The application site is considered to represent a sustainable location for
further housing development within the village in compliance with the
settlement objectives of Policy S3 of Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (ALP
Part 1) and the updated settlement limits of Policy SA2 of the Allerdale
Local Plan Part 2 (ALPP2).
The site is well related to the surrounding built development.



Highways
The intensification of the use of the existing vehicular access from the
small Beech Grove estate onto Causeway Road is acceptable with no
significant adverse impacts on highway safety. The details are
acceptable to the Local Highway Authority.



Drainage
Policy S29 of ALPP1 refers to surface water drainage and flood risk. This
subject represented a key concern within the representations received,
prompting the applicant to undertake a detailed flood risk /surface water
drainage assessment towards adopting a drainage strategy (including
cumulative considerations with the recently approved nearby major
housing development on the opposite side of Causeway Road). The
submitted detailed scheme is considered to be acceptable to the Lead
Local Flood Authority.

Page 5



Ecology
Policy S35 seeks to protect and safeguard biodiversity. Assessments
were undertaken to establish the ecological value of the site (including a
reptile survey) It was concluded the proposal would not have a significant
impact on ecology and biodiversity gain can be achieved via planning
condition.

Following member discussions, Councillor A McGuckin proposed to refuse the
application, on the grounds of future serious flooding risk caused by the
development.
Councillor J Grisdale seconded.
A vote was taken: 5 voted in favour of refusal, 5 against and 1 abstention.
The chairman used his casting vote against the refusal of the application
bringing the total to 6 against. The motion for refusal was lost.
Councillor T Annison proposed to approve the application as per officer’s
recommendations.
Councillor M Grainger seconded.
A vote was taken: 5 voted in favour of approval and 6 against. The motion was
lost.
Councillor A Smith proposed to defer the application in order to get the site
cleared for a further site visit.
The Planning Manager advised members that this would not be beneficial to
ask the developer to clear the site.
Councillor A Smith withdrew the motion.
Councillor T Annison proposed to approve the application.
A vote was taken: 5 voted in favour of approval and 6 against. The motion was
lost.
Councillor P Scott proposed to refuse the application based on the loss of
amenity.
The Planning Officer clarified to members the application is an outline
application to consider the layout and access.
Councillor P Scott withdrew the motion.
Councillor A Semple proposed to approve the application on the grounds that all
conditions are brought back before the panel in particular condition 1 and 14
prior to development.
A vote was taken: 5 voted in favour of approval, 6 against. The motion was lost.

Page 6

Councillor A McGuckin proposed to refuse the application based on the
measures proposed do not go far enough to address the risk of flooding within
the engineering works.
Councillor J Grisdale seconded.
The officers clarified to members that within the report the applicant has
provided a detailed drainage strategy plan.
Councillor A McGuckin withdrew his motion to refuse and proposed that the
application be deferred based on the evidence provided and invite a drainage
expert to the meeting and hear extensive information with regards to the flood
management.
Councillor J Grisdale supported the amended motion.
A vote was taken: 9 voted in favour of deferral, 2 against.
The motion was carried.
Decision
Deferred.
Lunch Break 13:00pm - 13:30pm
Councillor N Cockburn left the meeting
120.

HOU/2022/0118 - 7 Everest Mount, Workington - Re-submission of
application HOU/2021/0212 for a 1.5 storey rear extension and porch to
front
Representations
The Agent, Richard Lindsay spoke in support to the application
Application
The Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Wilson recommended to refuse the
application.
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main
issues within the report as follows:


Residential Amenity
The proposed rear extension, by reason of its scale and proximity to the
shared boundary with 5 Everest Mount, would have overbearing and
unneighbourly impact on the occupiers of this property, detrimentally
increasing a sense of enclosure, and materially harming their residential
amenity.

Page 7

Following member discussions, Councillor A McGuckin proposed to approve the
application with a condition to put in place obscure glass on the gable.
Councillor P Scott seconded.
A vote was taken: 6 voted in favour of approval, 4 against.
Decision
Approved with condition.
121.

VAR/2022/0013 - Land off Abbey Road, Abbeytown - Variation of
2/2018/0214
Representations
The Agent, Stuart Woodall spoke in support to the application
Application
The Senior Planning Officer, Rebecca Wilson recommended to approve the
application subject to the conditions and a revised S106.
The Senior Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main
issues within the report as follows:


Principle of Development
The applicant’s original outline application 2/2018/0214 for the erection of
dwellinghouses was originally conditionally approved (subject to a s106
re affordable dwellings provision) by the development panel in February
2019. Further to the recent submission of a reserved matters application
for nine dwellings (pending) this original consent remains extant, thus the
principle of the development is acceptable. The site is within the
approved settlement limits for the village under Policy SA2 of ALPP2 and
Abbeytown constitutes a “local centre” under the provisions of the
settlement hierarchy of Policy S3 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1).



Highways
The linear shaped application site is served by a single cul-de–sac
highway off Abbey road.
Although the reserved matter applications technical highway specification
is to an adoptable standard, its associated drainage details are not.
However the County highway/LLFA authority consider these details
remain acceptable but will require alternative private management.
Subject to an alternative condition to address this issue the details are
acceptable.

Page 8



Design/Landscaping
The design/technical/landscaping details themselves are alternatively
seeking to be addressed through the pending reserved matter and
discharge of condition applications.



Affordable Housing
The former application, under the provisions of the planning policies at
that point in time, required the delivery of 25% of the dwellings to be local
affordable properties. Albeit the original application was solely an outline
application supported by an indicative plan, a planning condition on the
consent restricted it to a maximum of fifteen dwellings (reflecting the
indicative drawing details)
This reflected the criteria of the national and local plan policies in situ at
the point in time of the applications determination. (This was endorsed
under the a s106 which required the provision of 1 local affordable
dwelling , plus an off-site financial contribution equating to 2.25 dwellings
which would be reinvested back into the delivery of affordable houses.)
There has been a significant change of policy circumstances since the
former decision with the updated National Planning Policy Framework
only requiring affordable housing for major development (10 dwellings
/sites more than 0.5ha) with a minimum of 10% low cost affordables, plus
Policy SA3 of ALLP2 revising the requirement for a maximum of 10%
local affordable housing provision for this part of the Borough.
Although the current reserved matters is for nine units it remains above
the 0.5ha area threshold. Therefore local affordables would normally be
required.
However officers consider the characteristics of the site hinder the
means to deliver more units especially as the applicants housing mix
under the reserved matter application incorporates bungalows /dormer
bungalows in order to address the constraints of the sites linear shape.
Therefore, on balance it is considered unreasonable in this instance to
impose the requirement of affordable dwellings due to its site area, which
would solely relate to one low cost affordable unit.
Officers recognise the policy implications of the proposal and it has been
advertised as a departure.

Following member discussions, Councillor A McGuckin proposed to approve the
application as per officer’s recommendations and subject to conditions.
Councillor A Daniels seconded.
A vote was taken: The vote was unanimous for approval
Decision
Approved

Page 9

Conditions
Time Limit:
Conditions/Reasons
1. Before any works commence, details of the layout, scale and
appearance, access and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved
matters') shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following plans:
5640-001 - Location plan
5640-002 Rev B (amendment 26/07/18)
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
3. The development shall begin no later than the expiration of two years
from the final approval of the 'reserved matters' or, in the case of approval
on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be
approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
4. The development hereby approved is for a maximum of 15 dwellings.
Reason: This is considered the maximum number of dwellings that can
accommodated on site to reflect the prevailing densities in the area, preserve
residential amenity and the amenity value of the trees protected by the Tree
Preservation Order and to accord with policies S32 and S33 of the Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014.
5. Provision shall be made in the submission of any 'reserved matters'
application for parking spaces for each individual dwellinghouse. In
compliance with the parking standards within the County Councils
Cumbria Design Guide
Reason: To ensure that a minimum standard of off-street parking provision is
made for the development and in the interests of highway safety, in compliance
with the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S22 of the
Allerdale Local Plan(Part 1) 2014.
6. The carriageway, footways and footpaths shall be designed and lit to a
standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details,
including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval before any part of the development
hereby permitted is commenced. No work shall be commenced until a full
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance
with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any
works so approved shall be constructed before the development is
completed.

Page 10

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of
highway safety.
7. The development shall not be commence until visibility splays
providing clear visibility of 43 measured along the nearside channel line
of the B5307 public road from a position 2.4metres inset from the
carriageway edge, on the centre line of the prospective access road, at a
height of 1.05metres, have been provided. Notwithstanding the provisions
of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order
2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to
permitted development, no development, trees, bushes or other plants
which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within
the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access, in compliance
with the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S4 and S22 of
the Allerdale Local Plan(Part 1) 2014.
8. Prior to the occupation of the development, a surface water drainage
scheme based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site
conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after
completion) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The surface water drainage scheme must be in
accordance with the Non-Statutory technical Standards for Sustainable
Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national
standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system
either directly or indirectly. The development shall be completed,
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.
9. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a
desktop study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority. Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential
contamination which may affect human health, controlled waters or the
wider environment, all necessary site investigation works within the site
boundary must be carried out to establish the degree and nature of the
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm
to human health. The scope of works for the site investigations should be
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning
Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
2014.
10. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desk
top study under condition 9 be found which poses unacceptable risks to
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options,

Page 11

identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning
Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).2014
11. Should a contamination remediation scheme be required under
condition 10, the approved strategy shall be implemented and a
verification report submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of
development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning
Policy Framework and Policy EN9 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Saved).
12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning
Policy Framework 2018 and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
2014.
13. No development shall take place until a Construction and Demolition
Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the
development, including the parking and turning facilities and off-street
compound staff traffic;
(b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles,
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, noise,
and light pollution.
(d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected
species during construction.
(e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the
construction or demolition;
(f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction
and demolition;
(g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(h) Hours of working and deliveries;

Page 12

(i) Details of lighting to be used on site.
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of
the development.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring
properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2018
and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan, (Part 1) 2014.
14. No development shall commence within the site until the applicant has
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been
submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The written scheme of investigation will include the following
components:
a) An archaeological evaluation;
b) An archaeological recording programme, the scope of which will be
dependent upon the results of the evaluation.
c) Where appropriate, a post-excavation assessment and analysis,
preparation of a site archive ready for deposition at a store approved by
the Local Planning Authority, completion of an archive report, and
submission of the results for publication in a suitable journal.
Reason: To afford reasonable opportunity for an examination to be made to
determine the existence of any remains of archaeological interest within the site
and for the examination and recording of such remains.
15. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason: To secure proper drainage and manage the risk of flooding and
pollution
16.Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and agreed in writing.
The sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan shall
include as a minimum:
a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s
management company; and
b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements
of the sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface
water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and
managed in accordance with the approved plan.
Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and
pollution during the lifetime of the development.
17. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced
until a plan has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority to show all existing trees which are to be felled or retained,
together with the positions and height of protective fences, the areas for
the storage of materials and stationing of machines and huts, and the
position and width of temporary site roads and accesses. The details so

Page 13

approved shall be implemented prior to the commencement of the
development and maintained at all times during the construction period.
Reason: In order to ensure that adequate protection is afforded to the existing
trees on the site prior to any excavation/construction works on the site.
18.Prior to occupation of the development a highway management and
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to
the local planning authority and agreed in writing. The development shall
subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with
the approved plan.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of
highway safety.
Councillor A Smith left the meeting
122.

FUL/2022/0105 - Fellcroft, Windmill Lane, Cockermouth - Conversion of
garage to iron press room for existing laundry
Application
The Planning Officer, Kelly Hampson recommended to approve the application.
The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within
the report as follows:


Principle of Development
The application site forms a domestic garage associated with a
residential property to be part converted for use as an iron press room in
connection with an existing laundry business adjacent and partly
connected to the dwellinghouse.



Highways Safety
The proposal does not fall within the criteria for consultation with
Cumbria Highways



Heritage
The garage is on the boundary of Cockermouth Conservation Area,
however it is not considered to create a harmful impact given the lack of
external changes to its appearance and the existing laundry already
being an established business.

Following member discussions, Councillor T Annison proposed to approve the
application as per officer’s recommendations.
Councillor A McGuckin seconded.
A vote was taken: The vote was unanimous for approval

Page 14

Decision
Approved
Conditions
Time Limit:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

In Accordance:

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in
accordance with the following plans: Dwg No 01 Site and Floor Plan
and Elevations as proposed
Location Plan
Proposed Floor Plan
Block Plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

The meeting closed at 2.22 pm

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16

Agenda Item 5
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application OUT/2019/0017
Development Panel Report
Reference Number: OUT/2019/0017
Valid Date: 7/05/19
Location: Beech grove Seaton , Workington
Applicant: Thwaytes, Thwaytes, Rutherford & Warren
Proposal: Outline application for 8 dwellings with all matters
reserved except access
RECOMMENDATION
GRANT subject to the recommended conditions.
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

The application site is considered to
represent a sustainable location for further
housing development within the village in
compliance with the settlement objectives
of Policy S3 of Allerdale Local Plan Part 1
(ALP Part 1) and the updated settlement
limits of Policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local
Plan Part 2 (ALPP2).
The site is well related to the surrounding
built development.

Highways

The intensification of the use of the
existing vehicular access from the small
Beech Grove estate onto Causeway Road
is acceptable with no significant adverse
impacts on highway safety. The details are
acceptable to the Local Highway Authority.

Drainage

Policy S29 of ALPP1 refers to surface
water drainage and flood risk. This subject
represented a key concern within the
representations received, prompting the
applicant to undertake a detailed flood risk

Page 17

/surface water drainage assessment
towards adopting a drainage strategy
(including cumulative considerations with
the recently approved nearby major
housing development on the opposite side
of Causeway Road). The submitted
detailed scheme is considered to be
acceptable to the Lead Local Flood
Authority.
Ecology

2.

Policy S35 seeks to protect and safeguard
biodiversity. Assessments were
undertaken to establish the ecological
value of the site (including a reptile survey)
It was concluded the proposal would not
have a significant impact on ecology and
biodiversity gain can be achieved via
planning condition.

Proposal

2.1. Members may recollect that this application was initially presented for
consideration at the Development panel meeting on 18th January 2022
Members had originally resolved to defer the application seeking further detailed
evidence from the applicant on the means of surface water drainage/flood
mitigation for the development. Members also requested the Environment
Agency be invited to comment on a video presented at the meeting showing
flooding through garden areas.
2.2. Further to members initial resolution the applicant agreed to include the reserved
matter of layout as part of the outline application. This in turn has enable the
applicant to additionally calculate and demonstrate through an updated detailed
Drainage strategy plan the means of surface water drainage for the development.
2.3. The application was subsequently considered by the Development panel at their
last meeting on 9th August, but was further deferred to enable members to further
clarify and assess technical drainage considerations relating to the development.
2.4. The proposal seeks outline consent for the erection of up to 8 houses on an area
of land on the south eastern perimeter of the village of Seaton.
2.3. The outline application seeks approval of the reserved matter detail of access,
specifying a single vehicular access off the neighbouring cul-de-sac estate of
Beech Grove, which then links to Causeway Road.
2.5. The application is supported by: Ground Investigation Assessment, Ecology
Report and Flood Risk/Drainage documents.

Page 18

2.6. The Plans for consideration are:60790-01 Rev A Site location plan amended 28/07/22
Amended plan (60790:10 Rev D) received 9/12/21
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy Part 1
(30/05/2022)
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy Part 2
(30/05/2022)
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy Part 3
(30/05/2022)
Amended Dwg 078467-CUR-00-XX-DR-C-90003 Surfacing plan and details Rev
P01 (received 12/07/2022).
Amended Dwg 078467-CUR-00-XX-DR-C-92003-P01 Excccedence flow plan
received (30/06/22)
Amended 078467-CUR-XX-XX-CA-D-92001-V02 Surface water calculations
received 30/06/22
Amended Ecological Assessment survey report 11/10/2021
Amended reptile survey report 11/10/21
E-mail dated 9/12/21 confirming reserved matter means of access within the
application.
3.0 Site
3.1. The site comprises of an area of open rough pasture land situated to the south
western edge of the Beech Grove estate in Low Seaton. A vehicular access road
traverses across the site.
3.2. An underground watercourse culvert (Gale Brook) also traverses through the north
western section of the site. It opens up briefly at the western corner of the site,
before returning underground within a further separate underground culvert.
3.3. The southern boundary is bordered by properties on Low Seaton, which is a
lengthy cul-de-sac. The northern edge abuts the rear gardens of the residential
properties on Kelsick Park and Milburn Croft housing estates. A large domestic
curtilage belonging to a property in Low Seaton acts as the application sites south
western boundary which is segregated by a large hedge.
3.4 The site is within close proximity to the centre of Seaton, with its associated
services and facilities.
4.

Relevant Planning History

4.1. Following concerns on the suitability of Low Seaton’s cul-de-sac highway having
the capacity to accommodate additional vehicular traffic, two separate applications
(2/2004/0961) and (2/2004/1230), each for a pair of detached dwellings fronting
onto Low Seaton highway, were approved and implemented with an alternative
and separate new rear access via Beech Grove’s estate entrance (which traverses
across the current application site). Garaging was provided at the rear of these

Page 19

properties. This approved access corridor was revised and upgraded under
application 2/2016/0296, and has recently been completed.
4.2. These dwellings were allowed on appeal, with the Inspector including a planning
condition requiring the access highway to be built to adoptable standards.
4.3. The current proposal’s access via Beech Grove estate’s junction onto Causeway
road is within proximity of a previously approved residential development
(2/2017/0277) for 100 houses (in outline), on land to the rear of the British Legion
(since demolished), on the opposite side of Causeway Road. However this outline
consent was superseded by a revised outline application 2/2018/0493 for the
same scale of development in the same locality, but served by an alternative
vehicular access via Hill Farm. This outline consent remains extant.
4.4. In addition, an outline consent for a small neighbouring site on Camerton Road for
5 dwellings was granted under 2/2017/0278.
4.5. A further outline application for 4 dwellings under 2/2017/0279 on the southern
side of Camerton Road was refused and dismissed at appeal on the grounds of
landscape impact and extension of the village.
5.

Representations

5.1. Parish Council
5.2. Object to the development due to the cumulative impact of approved and potential
developments on overstretched infrastructure. The parish understands that land
from the north feeds the direction of the land proposed to be developed and
flooding occurs on the highway junction of the proposed development. It is
understood the land itself acts to soak up this and surrounding drainage and the
Parish Council is concerned the proposal will lead to flooding problems. Water
drainage into the existing watercourse, which is already a concern for properties
adjacent to the route of the watercourse, will increase, exacerbating flooding
problems. The Parish Council is also concerned with the additional traffic at the
current junction, especially given its propensity to flood. Question whether local
residents had been re-consulted on the additional evidence. The Parish reiterated
their original objections, following re-consultation on the drainage/ecology
information.
5.3. Local Highway Authority/Lead Local Flood Authority
5.4. Consider the proposed shared road is acceptable in principle. Seek as part of the
reserved matters the details between the adopted highway at Beech Grove and
the new site access. No objections subject to conditions.
5.5. Initial response to the detailed scheme 9/6/22 stated
However, further details will be needed in due course as required in accordance
with our CDDG Drainage Checklist, including full calculations and exceedance

Page 20

route plan. I confirm that our response made to the previous application should still
apply, along with an additional Condition, as follows: 'I can confirm that the outline
Drainage Strategy (078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 (now Rev. PO2) provided is
acceptable and shows that this outline planning application , with all matter
reserved, has the potential to be drained in an acceptable manner. I can therefore
confirm that the Local highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority has no
objections to this applications.
However they recommended condition re adoptable road layout details of the
surface water drainage layout, drainage verification report and access turning
facilities.
.We would however recommend that he following conditions are included in any
consent you might grant:
The carriageway and footways shall be designed, constructed, drained and lit to a
standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details, including
longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
approval before work commences on site. No work shall be commenced until a full
specification has been approved. These details shall be in accordance with the
standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any works so approved
shall be constructed before the development is complete.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway
safety. To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD5, LD7, LD8
Full details of the surface water drainage system (incorporating SUDs features as
far as practicable) and a maintenance schedule (identifying the responsible
parties) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to
development being commenced. Any approved works shall be implemented prior
to the development being completed and shall be maintained thereafter in
accordance with the schedule. Reason: To promote sustainable development,
secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. To
ensure the surface water system continues to function as designed and that flood
risk is not increased within the site or elsewhere.
Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report carried out by
a qualified drainage engineer shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority, to demonstrate that all sustainable drainage systems have
been constructed as per the agreed scheme. This verification report shall include:
1) As built drawings for all Suds components - including dimensions (base levels,
inlet/outlet elevations, areas, depths, lengths, diameters, gradients etc.); 2)
Construction details (component drawings, materials, vegetation); 3) Health and
Safety file; 4) Details of ownership organisation/adoption details.
Reason: To ensure that all sustainable drainage systems are designed to the
DEFRA non-statutory technical standards in accordance with the NPPF
The access and parking/turning requirements shall be substantially met before any
building work commences on site so that constructional traffic can park and turn
clear of the highway.

Page 21

Reason: The carrying out of this development without the provision of these
facilities during the construction work is likely to lead to inconvenience and danger
to road users. To support Local Transport Policies: LD8
5.6. In response to the applicants detailed drainage reply they advise (16/06/22)
The areas outwith the site cannot be taken into account in the drainage design for
the application site in terms of attenuation and storage. Every site should be
drained in such a way that it replicates the pre-development scenario, limits the
discharge to greenfield rates and causes no increase in flood risk elsewhere, but it
is not required to resolve pre-existing off-site matters. It would be inappropriate
(and probably impracticable in most scenarios) for a site to include allowances for
existing flooding problems outwith the site in terms of storage and attenuation.
However, where these is an existing flow route, or exceedance route through a
site, there should be allowances for this water to pass through the site in its natural
quantity and quality.



Flooding of highways, gardens or property outwith the site must therefore be
considered as a separate matter and will be investigated by the appropriate
authority and remedial or mitigation measures taken as necessary.



The requirements on this greenfield site is that the discharge from the postdeveloped site meets the Non Statutory Technical Standards on flow volume
and rate, which dictates the required storage and that the final discharge rate
must not exceed the existing greenfield rate for the positively drained area.



Looking at the topography on the plans, on the ground and carrying out Lidar
analysis, I am satisfied that the surface water generated from this site is only
that which falls in the site boundary.



The NPPF drainage destination hierarchy has to be considered alongside an
understanding and evidence of how the existing site drains, predevelopment, in a modelled storm event and the proposal has to mimic this.
Looking at the contours, ground conditions and topography, I am satisfied
that the site run-off currently drains to the watercourse and that the drainage
proposal therefore is replicating this with no net-impact.



I note that there is some attenuation provided on site with a small natural
basin in the SW corner of the site. It is my view that this will provide some
attenuation and small amount of infiltration and will reduce the greenfield rate
flowing into the downstream watercourse. This benefit should therefore be
replicated in the drainage design. I note that there is a small off-line basin
proposed which will provide some limited additional storage.



I have carried out a verification check on the run-off rates and storage
volumes required and can confirm that the value suggested for the controlled
discharge rate of 1.7 l/s is appropriate. However, the stated total storage
capacity of 155m3 may be somewhat low. I have carried out a check and
including a robust allowance for garden contributions the actual storage may
be up to 175m3. However, I am satisfied that if this proves necessary, and

Page 22

demonstrated in the detailed design, this can be provided on site by
additional storage tanks. It is worth pointing out that the LHA will not adopt
any road where geo-cellular tanks are built underneath.



It should be noted that adopting rainwater harvesting can make a huge
difference to the amount of run-off and therefore significantly reduce the
storage required



I note that the necessary 50% climate change allowance has been used and
10% urban creep in the calculations.



I accept the results of the permeability infiltration testing and that an
infiltration solution is not viable. However, partial infiltration and the adoption
of as much permeable surfaces as possible will definitely help attenuate
flows and also provide useful treatment for driveway run-off. I note, and
welcome, the proposal therefore to include as many permeable surfaces as
possible in the design. I also note that the design includes filter or fin drains
to intercept flows as part of the landscaping scheme. This will prevent flows
from causing nuisance to neighbouring properties.



The site is shown to be in Flood Zone 1 and not at risk of any sources of
flooding except for surface water flooding, which is indicated to run across
the site following the line of the watercourse and ponding in the hollow before
flowing towards the watercourse. I am satisfied that a suitable drainage
design and finished floor levels can manage and mitigate any existing flood
risk to the site.



Careful attention to levels, landscaping, the use of green SUDS and
permeable areas is important as these contribute to 'roughness', can provide
additional storage and attenuation areas and provide additional treatment.



I am satisfied that the outline strategy contains the necessary features to
deliver an acceptable solution that does not cause flood risk to the site or
elsewhere, but further details, including drainage calculations, exceedance
routes must be provided in due course and this should be conditioned as per
my previous response.

Consultation reply 14/07/2022
Cumbria County Council as the Local Highway Authority (LHA) and Lead Local Flood
Authority (LLFA) has reviewed the additional drawings and revised documents
submitted in connection with the above planning reference, namely: the revised Surface
Water Drainage Strategy, Impermeable Surfaces Plan, details hydraulic calculations,
Exceedance Route diagram and Surfacing Plan drawing and our findings are detailed
below.
Local Highway Authority response: As stated in our earlier response we have no
objection in principle to the proposed layout and we very much weclome the inclusion of
the permeable driveways and shared surface road. However, further details will be
required for approval in the full planning application which should comply with the

Page 23

Cumbria Development Design Guide, including:  confirmation of road widths and
construction / materials;  inclusion of service and clearance strips as appropriate; 
Footways as appropriate;  Turning head with swept path for refuse vehicle;  Road
lighting;  Adoption proposals (please note that adoption of permeable paved shared
surface streets may not be possible); Therefore, I can confirm that the LHA has no
objection in principle to the proposal but recommend that the following conditions are
included in any consent granted
The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc shall be designed, constructed,
drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in this respect further
details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval before work commences on site. No work shall be commenced
until a full specification has been approved. Any works so approved shall be constructed
before the development is complete.
Reason:To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway
safety. To support Local Transport Plan Policies: LD5, LD7, LD8
Development shall not commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CTMP
shall include details of: • details of proposed crossings of the highway verge; • retained
areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for their specific purpose
during the development; • cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; •
details of proposed wheel washing facilities; • the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil
to/from the site to prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; •
construction vehicle routing; • the management of junctions to and crossings of the
public highway and other public rights of way/footway; • Details of any proposed
temporary access points (vehicular / pedestrian)
Reason: To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely impact upon
the fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the interests of highway and
pedestrian safety. To support Local Transport Plan Policies: WS3, LD4
Lead Local Flood Authority response: Having reviewed the additional documents
referred to above, I confirm that the outstanding concerns and matters relating to the
surface water drainage design have been satisfied:  the storage capacity in the model
only assumes the geo-cellular tanks and small basin. However, taking into account the
oversized carrier drains and permeable surfaces, I am satisfied that sufficient
attenuation volume will be provided. It is important that the permeable surfaces are
included as shown;  The calculations confirm that a Climate Change allowance of 50%
has been used and 10% for Urban Creep which is appropriate and reflects the latest
guidance from the EA;  The exceedance route shows that exceedance flows will not
endanger property on the site and the flows that cannot be contained in storm events
>100 yr storm, will flow into the open watercourse;  Fin drains have been provided to
intercept flows to prevent nuisance to neighbouring sites and control flows across the
site
I can confirm that the LLFA has no objection to the proposals but recommends that the
following conditions be included in any consent granted:
The development shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the
approved drawings and details and in accordance with the principles set out in the
Outline Drainage Strategy dated 30 May 2022 and accompanying associated

Page 24

appendices, drawings and calculations. Reason: To promote sustainable development,
secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. This condition
is imposed in light of policies within the NPPF and NPPG.
No development shall commence until a construction surface water management plan
has been agreed in writing with the local planning authority.
Reason: To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard against
pollution of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems.
Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report carried out by a
qualified drainage engineer shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority, to demonstrate that all sustainable drainage systems have been constructed
as per the agreed scheme. This verification report shall include: 1) As built drawings for
all SuDS components - including dimensions (base levels, inlet/outlet elevations, areas,
depths, lengths, diameters, gradients etc); 2) Construction details (component drawings,
materials, vegetation); 3) Health and Safety file; 4) Details of ownership
organisation/adoption details.
Reason: To ensure that all sustainable drainage systems are designed to the DEFRA
non-statutory technical standards in accordance with the NPPF Advisory
Prior to any work commencing on the watercourse the applicant should contact the
Environment Agency to confirm if Flood Defence Consent is required.
5.7. Environmental Protection
5.8. Seek updates to the applicants phase 1 report and seek a Construction
Management Plan for the development.
5.9. United Utilities
5.10. No objection regarding foul water and surface water discharge from the site with
standard drainage conditions.
5.11. Environment Agency
5.12. No objections. Advise Gale Brook is designated a Main river. A permit will be
required for any works within 8m of this watercourse. Any future reserved matters
application should account for future repair/maintenance of the watercourse –
questioning the indicative layout for plots 3 and 4. They may object to any such
future reserved matters application if this is not addressed. The rest of the
culverted watercourse is an ordinary watercourse, which will similarly need to
account for future maintenance by any riparian owners (e.g. plots 1-4 on the plan).
In response to the video evidence at panel the Environment Agency suggest they
are unaware of recent issues with the culvert. The area where they removed a
blockage and replaced the culvert was further downstream (which was few years
ago)
They advise a CCTV inspection of Gale Brook was undertaken in July 2020 which
found the culvert to be in good condition following the removal of the blockage and
pipe repair. During these works it was identified that the owner of No 18 West

Page 25

Croft had installed a small improvised trash screen which had been placed in the
manhole and caused the blockage in the pipe downstream. In response to the
video it’s possible that the property owner replaced the screen in the manhole,
resulting in the manhole surcharging as shown in the video. The manhole was
checked again in 2022 and it was clear of any obstructions. Due to the good
condition of the culvert there are no further plans by the Environment Agency to
carry out any further upgrade works. However it is essential that any proposed
development discharging into this watercourse should attenuate surface water and
not exceed original greenfield run off rates for either the 1 year or 100 year storm
event.
5.6. The application was advertised on site and in the press.
A total of 17 letters of objection were received. The grounds of objection are
summarised as follows:
-

-

-

Extensions of existing properties not shown on plans – loss of privacy.
Cumulative traffic generation/impact on roads and junctions (Church Road &
Causeway Road) and drainage impact (including Gale Brook) with other
large housing proposals in Seaton.
Cumulative impact with the approved housing estate access junction at the
British Legion.
Question the access arrangements for the existing houses at Low Seaton
Inadequate road, drainage and education infrastructure.
The proposal is contrary to Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.
Impact on residents downstream on Gale Brook- Milburn Croft, Westcroft
and Derwent bank, plus Barepot. Need for its remediation along its full length
For clarity Beech Grove comprises of 9 dwellings which use its entrance.
Need for a robust drainage strategy.
Albeit the nearby approved housing estate outline consent 2/2018/0493
revised and revoked the earlier outline consent 2/2017/0277 it does not
prevent any further future resubmission for the outstanding sections of the
site. Therefore this consent needs to be considered.
Question whether the culvert traversing across the site is fit for purpose.
Need of CCTV assessment.
Proposal is contrary to policy S29 of ALPP1.
Lack of details on the type of dwellings on the site.
The site is not large enough for 8 dwellings.
Lack of details on the distance from existing dwellings.
Local knowledge highlights part of the site floods at the lower end in bad
weather.
The size of the access is inadequate for the scale of the development.
The boundary hedgerow should be retained.
The site is overgrown and has attracted vermin.
Loss of light to the bungalows on Beech Grove (seek a restriction for the
proposal to be bungalows).
Structural concerns on future construction works.
Over-development of the area.
Disruption will result in loss of health.

Page 26

-

-

-

The development and its associated construction disturbance, impact on
traffic /flood risk and services is under Allerdale’s tagline no longer a “great
place to live”.
Better alternative sites for housing exist elsewhere.
Loss of open green space.
Too much housing in Low Seaton to the detriment of its rural appeal/village.
Proposal is contrary to Allerdale local plan’s strategic objectives SO1c
(inappropriate existing facilities), SO1d (lack of details on access), SO2b (the
proposals is not the renewal/repair of empty properties) SO2c and SO2d plus
Policy S8 – (no affordable units), SO2e. S7 and S10 (no housing provision for
the elderly), SO4a ,SO4b and S22 (re transport objectives re existing journey
times and transport infrastructure, inadequate road junctions and the site is
served by a solitary access, S32 ( individual and accumulative construction
disturbance with the other nearby housing approvals ), S22 residential
amenity of existing houses will be disturbed by traffic, So5e and S29 flood
risk and surface water drainage with reference to flooding on and outside the
site with Gale brook having finite lifespan of 15-25 years due to its current
condition (photo’s provided of flooding) which applicable to the entire length
of the watercourse with reference to flood maps.-seek a flood risk
assessment. Question the details of the 2019 ecology survey-nearby
presence of slow worms.
The site has degenerated from a pasture field into an eyesore with the council
taking 15years in deciding its future.

5.13. An objection letter was also received from the Workington Flood Action Group.
They refer to the Environment Agency’s maps with Plots 1-4 being within risk
areas. They challenge the findings of the applicant’s initial drainage report as to
the site’s permeability, the contentious details of utilising Gale Brook and the site is
in an area at flood risk. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy S29 of ALPP1.
Reference is made to an assessment of the culverts in Barepot which if
unattended may be blocked in year 2025 and the Low Seaton culverts may be in a
similar state. They contest Gale Brook is hydraulically overloaded with concern
that the culverts may collapse. Reference is also made to the other approved
housing development which will increase the flow and velocity of water to this site.
The Group refer to the loss of the approved turning area for the existing four
houses at Low Seaton under the garden of plot 8 and emphasise the site is not
within the ALPP2. Consequently, a full Flood Risk Assessment is requested with
the need to consult both the Environment Agency and the County Council. The
objection will be withdrawn if the applicant agrees to remediate Gale Brook in Low
Seaton and fund its realignment in Barepot.
6.

Environmental Impact Assessment

6.1. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017
6.2. The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA
development.

Page 27

7.

Duties

7.1. The proposal does not affect the setting of any listed buildings or conservation
areas. It would not significantly impact on any Natura 2000 designation (noting the
watercourse does constitute a tributary to the River Derwent’s SAC).
8.

Development Plan Policies

8.1. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 –Trees, hedgerows and woodland
8.2. Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)
Policy SA2 – Settlement limits
Policy SA33 – Broadband
Policy SA52 – Green Infrastructure
The northern strip of the site is designated as a green infrastructure.
9.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2020-2030

10. Policy weighting
10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination
to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This
means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the Allerdale Borough Local
Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.

Page 28

11. Assessment:
Principle of development
11.1. Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) states that new residential
development will be concentrated within the physical limits of Principal, Key and
Local Service Centres. Seaton’s settlement is included as part of Workington for
the purpose of the settlement hierarchy and housing allocation and growth.
11.2. Workington (including Seaton) is the Principal Service Centre and the focus for
35% of the housing growth required across the Plan area, where additional,
development sites can be supported to sustain housing growth. The Local Plan
requires the delivery of at least 5,471 dwellings during the plan period, therefore
requiring 1979 dwellings over the plan period (up to 2029) for Workington
(including Seaton). The proposed 8 dwellings would make a modest contribution to
delivering the identified housing need.
11.3. The proposed development site lies within the revised settlement limit for
Workington (including Seaton) under policy SA2 of the Allerdale Local plan (Part
2).
11.4. The sites of the approved housing developments ref. 2/2017/0277 and
2/2018/0493 have also been incorporated into the revised limits for Seaton under
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2), thus enabling for the future growth of the village
as part of Workington’s housing supply.
11.5. Local representations emphasise concerns with the scale of housing development
in Seaton, and Officers acknowledge that the village benefits from three major
housing commitments namely;




Causeway Road, Seaton (2/2017/0277 and 2/2018/0493) - outline
approval up to 100 units
Land east of Whitestiles, Seaton, 69 dwellings approved 2/2016/0657
Lowca Lane 2/2017/0510 - outline for 41 self-build plots –partially
implemented but recently lapsed.

11.6. However, this smaller scheme, should be assessed on its individual planning
merits. The Local Plan does not preclude the consideration of windfall sites, where
these are within the settlement limits.
11.7. The scale of the proposal is small and both individually and cumulatively it is
considered to be acceptable, to maintain a sustained growth within the Principal
Service Centre of Workington. It is consistent with the aims of the spatial strategy
set out in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). Its inclusion within the settlement limits,
reinforces that the site is sustainable and well related to the existing settlement
pattern of development within the village.
11.8. As such, the principle of housing is considered to be acceptable at this location.
The site is not considered to make a significant contribution to the character of the
settlement in its un-developed state and the scale of development proposed is

Page 29

proportionate to the size of the village, as a sustainable location for future housing
development.
11.9. The principle of the proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with
Policies S2, S3 and S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) and Policy SA2 of the
Allerdale local plan (Part 2).
Layout/ Scale of development
11.10. The current outline excludes all reserved matters except layout and access with a
single vehicular access from Causeway Road via Beech Grove. The application
includes a detailed layout plan providing for 8 dwellings. The provision of 8
dwellings is specified in the description, and the scheme as amended includes
the reserved matter of layout. The proposed layout plan demonstrates that eight
dwellings can be accommodated, and it accords well with the immediate
character of the village.
11.11. The site itself is well related to the existing settlement with built development on
three boundaries of the site. The proposal would infill an existing green wedge
corridor within the settlement pattern. Whilst the Gale Brook watercourse and its
associated culverts and water infrastructure do sterilise a corridor of land through
the site, this can be safeguarded through the removal of permitted developments
rights) which in turn retains its green infrastructure corridor under Policy SA52 of
ALPP2.
11.12. The site concerned is bordered by two storey dwellings on Kelsick Park and Low
Seaton and bungalows on the neighbouring boundary of Beech Grove. Given this
existing mixture it is considered not essential to restrict by condition the scale of
the house types for this development.
Landscape and Visual Impact
11.13. Given the constrained nature of the site, there are not considered to be any wider
landscape and visual impacts of the proposal, having regard to policies S35 and
S32. Policy DM17 seeks to, where possible protect trees which contribute
positively to the character of the area.
11.14. The only feature of landscape value is a hedgerow on the western perimeter
which is sought to be retained as part of the estates future landscaping.
Conditions are also applied to secure the long term maintenance of the drainage
mitigation measures along the rear curtilage landscape corridor along the
culverted section of Gale Brook. Through consideration of the detailed layout
plans, Gale Brook and its designation as Green corridor can be appropriately
considered under policy SA52. A condition reinforces no future outbuilding
development within the corridor of the culvert.
Design and residential amenity
11.15. Policy S32 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1) seeks to safeguard amenity. These
matters will need to be fully considered at the reserved matters stage, when

Page 30

details of scale and appearance are fully considered. The planning
considerations concerning any possible loss of light, privacy and amenity to
neighbouring residential dwellings can be evaluated as part of this future
submission. The onus will be within any future reserved matter application to
demonstrate a housing scheme which is sympathetic to the site and surroundings
and provides a high standard of housing for future occupiers and safeguards the
amenity for existing properties which border the site.
Highway considerations
11.16. Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) outlines the transport
considerations for development schemes. The applicant has confirmed that the
proposed reserved matter of means of access via Beech grove is part of the
application. The highway considerations represent a key concern within the
submitted representations, which was similarly a major issue on the larger
housing scheme, now approved.
11.17. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states “Development should only be prevented or
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be
severe.”
11.18. The previously approved housing development (up to 100 dwellings) on the
opposite side of Causeway Road (which included the means of access)
incorporated a new vehicular access via the partial demolition of the Royal British
Legion Club (RBL), with a secondary access for pedestrian use and emergency
vehicles an existing agricultural access onto Camerton Road. However this
consent was superseded by the later outline consent 2/2021/0493, which
remains extant, and gained an alternative access via Hill Farm onto Causeway
Road. Given the location of this access closer to the centre of village and its
services and transport infrastructure, it is considered that this access, unlike its
predecessor, will substantially lessen any combined traffic movements with the
current proposal, within this part of the village.
11.19. The existing driveway across the site is built to an adoptable standard. The
indicative layout amends the former approved rear access driveway details for
the existing four approved dwellinghouses off Low Seaton.
11.20. Officers attribute significant weight to the advice of the Local Highway Authority,
who raise no objection to the proposal on highway safety grounds subject to
highway conditions.
11.21. The details are therefore considered satisfactory in terms of demonstrating
acceptable access arrangements for the site.
Drainage
11.22. Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) specifies the criteria for
consideration of flood risk and surface water drainage. This represented the main
physical constraint during the initial consideration of the application. Further to

Page 31

the response of the LLFA who raised no objections and presentations at the
panel meeting which referred to former flooding events, members sought greater
details on the means of surface water drainage to evaluate the flood risk
implications. To assist in this calculation the applicant has also included the
reserved matter of layout to enable the run off calculation of all hard surfaced
areas.
11.23. This subject was also a primary source of concern on the earlier approved
housing scheme for 100 dwellings (ref.2/2017/0277 and subsequently
2/2018/0493), both of which adopted a surface water drainage strategy utilising
the existing upstream culverted section of Gale Brook water course, which
traverses beneath Causeway Road and then predominantly underground through
the application site itself, prior to being briefly exposed in a short open culvert
section in the western corner of the site, before diverting back underground in a
separate culvert on the perimeter of the site.
11.24. This watercourse falls both under the remit of the Environment Agency and the
County’s Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). This drainage corridor route, which
acted as the attenuated means of the surface water drainage for the former
consents, proved to be contentious, with reference to localised flooding events
along its corridor. The larger housing development was only granted consent
upon the applicant providing a detailed surface water drainage strategy to
demonstrate that the scale of run off reflected current guidance re: greenfield run
off rates with an allowance for climate change (which was the subject of a
detailed peer analysis commissioned by the LLFA). Thus, there was no
demonstrable increase in flood risk. Furthermore, it also prompted the clearance
of some blockages within the upper underground culverted sections of the
watercourse.
11.25. Similar concerns on surface water drainage and flood risk are being raised in this
current application. This is further complicated by the fact that part of the
application site is recognised as an area known for localised flooding events
(including high risk -1 in 30 years). This is confined to the approximate route of
the culvert, with the high risk elements concentrated at both the open section and
the access entrance to the Beech Grove estate onto Causeway Road.
11.26. As a consequence, Officers, especially in accounting for cumulative impacts with
the nearby approved housing development, requested a bespoke, site specific
flood risk assessment towards formulating the surface water drainage strategy for
the site, with the focus concentrating on the Gale Brook corridor. The original
assessment considered the flood risk from fluvial/tidal flooding to the site,
reservoir flooding (none), groundwater flooding (very low), surface water flooding
from the site (low, but surface water flooding to the site, low - high. The latter
aspect relates to ponding to a low lying area (approx. 30cm deep) over a limited
area and therefore has limited storage volume. The removal of these depressions
was considered to have no “discernible impact” on flood risk elsewhere, with
much of the site area being developed with managed run off by a formal drainage
system.

Page 32

11.27. The initial report did however recommends some mitigation conditions including;
finished floor levels, a landscaped corridor along the route of the culvert and the
use of filter drains to the landscaped areas.
11.28. The applicants subsequent revised detailed scheme accounts for an existing site
assessment, planning guidance, assessment of flood risk, mitigation , surface
water drainage strategy , SuDs maintenance and cumulative impact of
development proposals.
11.29. It highlight the lower section of the watercourse and its culvert is a designated
main river and therefore the responsibility is with the Environment Agency
whereas the other culvert is not under this designation. The CCTV survey work
undertaken by the EA in response to the larger separate housing application
refers to the remediation works to clear a former identified blockage. The size of
the culvert sections downstream are unknown, however the next section is
300mm diameter and free from obstruction it is envisaged to have the same
capacity as that upstream. Reference is also made to an existing combined
sewer traversing through the site on the sites NW boundary.
11.30. Percolation tests confirmed the site was unsuitable for soakaways. The applicant
refers to the Flood zone 1 status of the application site suggesting a low risk of
river flooding.
11.31. Reference is made to flooding from surface water. Whilst most of the site is
outside the identified areas there are some sections that are evident along the
route of the culvert. Of these 4m2 indicates a maximum flood depth of 900mm
with the remainder up to a depth of 300mm mainly concentrated in a localised
surface depression, encouraging ponding during flooding events. In a 100 year
event it suggests a flood depth of 600mm -900m over a 20m2 area with the
remainder up to 300mm. In this extreme event a flow route is established from
land in the NE, generally following the alignment of the culvert to the open
channel section of the watercourse. The agent’s report suggests the flooding of
the low lying land derives from the inability of run off from the site to reach the
watercourse. Consequently it is considered any mitigation should look to manage
overland run off from off-site using landscape design.
11.32. The report also refers to past flood events including the 2015 flood but considers
there is no flood risk to the site from extreme rainfall events. The report also
refers to the video presented at the previous panel meeting which occurred in
January 2021 and albeit no address was identified it was assumed it related to
the downstream section of the culvert.(No.18 west Croft) this is 120m from the
site and no reported flooding occurred during this event on the application site.
Minor flooding was also noted on the Causeway Rd being resolved by rodding a
local drain.
11.33. The applicants report advises agents are responsible for ensuring development
does not increase flood risk and should be designed to account for flood events
which can be adapted within any mitigation strategy.

Page 33

11.34. In reference to mitigation the report consider no specific measure are required
relating to fluvial/reservoir flooding. Groundwater flood risk is also considered low
subject to land falling away from the proposed buildings. However in terms of
surface water the report refers to the low lying areas on the site in its topography,
which are collecting run off from the site. Landscaping treatment in infilling the
low spots and setting a fixed floor level (49.75m AOD) would mitigate this issue.
The construction of a positive drainage system and formal on site attenuation will
mitigate run off from reaching areas of medium and high risk with a preferential
flow route introduced into the landscaping within a shallow depression to the rear
of plots 1-4.
11.35. The applicant’s drainage strategy accounts for peak flow control, volume control
and risk within the development. Under the provisions of the drainage hierarchy it
is recognised infiltration is not a feasible option, the watercourse traverses
through the site, there are no surface water sewers in the locality and technically
it may be feasible to connect to the combined public sewer on the edge of the
site.
11.36. The report calculates pre and post development surface water run off
incorporating climate change in a surface water drainage strategy and also
including designing for surface water drainage system failure (exceedance
drainage contingency and building layout and detail). The designed scheme
includes: inspection manholes, chambers, pipes, drainage channels and gullies,
pervious pavements, attenuation storage tank, detention basin and flow control
unit. A recommended maintenance strategy should be adopted.
11.37. The comprehensive report also refers to the cumulative impacts with other
developments in the locality with particular reference to the approved major
housing development under 2/2018/0493 which also discharges into Gale Brook.
This included allowing for post development run of rates and attenuation and the
rates of discharge (These details were conditioned under the earlier larger
developments consent which demonstrated betterment) The proposed
downstream location of the site will be a recipient of this betterment and will
follow the same development principles which in turn will provide betterment
further down Gale brook’s catchment.
11.38. The report concludes the flood risk is “none” for fluvial/reservoir flooding, “ very
low” for groundwater flooding to the site, “low” surface water flooding from the
site and “ low-high” for surface water flooding to the site . They consider the
infilling of the low lying area will “have no discernible impact on flood risk
elsewhere “, and as much of the site will be developed the majority of the run off
will be managed.
11.39. The conclusions recommend an extensive range of mitigation measures
including specified floor levels landscaping to provide a surface water flow route,
provision of filter drains under the landscaping, levels fall away from the building
and the adoption of a suds operation and maintenance plan.
11.40. Officers emphasise that in judging the merits of development proposals, they are
not required to resolve existing flooding problems, but sufficient evidence has to

Page 34

be provided to demonstrate that any such development will not exacerbate such
issues (including accounting for climate change).
11.41. The applicant has voluntarily provided the supplemental drainage information
requested by the panel. (Such information is not normally required on sites below
1ha in area.) The assessment has been undertaken by a professional drainage
consultant and is comprehensive both in term of surface water drainage strategy
and flood risk mitigation. This also encompasses the inclusion of reserved
matters to enable detailed surface water calculations of the run-off from the site.
The recommendations encompass a range of measures which officers
recommend should be endorsed by condition.
11.42. It is evident from the numerous consultation replies that the proposed detailed
drainage scheme has been the subject of scrutiny by the LLFA who have sought
that all the relevant information is provided in reaching their conclusion. Officers
therefore attribute significant weight to the consultation response of the LLFA,
who accept its findings. Based on this advice, officers are satisfied that the
development both individually or cumulatively will not significantly increase flood
risk in the locality, complying with the objectives of policy S29 of the Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1).
11.43. Whereas most approved outline applications normally reserve the surface water
drainage details to be submitted to and approved by planning condition, this
proposal by virtue of the extent of its drainage evidence has the added benefit of
solely requiring the submitted details to be implemented in accordance with the
approved details.
Ecology
11.44. Policy S35 of ALPP 1 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity. The initial
ecology survey was undertaken in 2019. It acknowledged that Gale Brook acts
as an important tributary to the river Derwent and its associated SAC
designation, thus a construction environmental management plan is
recommended including the following measures: silt traps, fencing off the
watercourse (5m), adoption of an emergency plan for pollution events, storage of
materials in bunded areas, testing of imported soil to the site and planting solely
native tree/vegetation species.
11.45. The site itself was considered of low ecological value, especially given its small
size, lack of trees and high levels of disturbance. Mitigation measures were
recommended to address habitat mitigation and compensation.
11.46. The survey acknowledged the presence of nesting birds which would require
mitigation. Similarly a range of mitigation measures were recommended to
address any possible amphibians on site, but the existence of Great Crested
Newts was considered unlikely. A reptile survey was however recommended in
the correct recording season. Bats were considered to be unlikely to roost at the
site. Additional measures were recommended (covering of excavations) to
minimise any harm to badgers who may occasionally visit the site.

Page 35

11.47. It was concluded from the survey that the works are unlikely to impact on other
protected species: otter, while clawed crayfish, water vole, dormice, red squirrel
or botanical or invertebrate species of note. Any other NERC species e.g.
hedgehog can be mitigated against.
11.48. The applicant undertook an updated ecological survey 2021, as the resulting
delay associated with addressing the various drainage concerns caused the
original report to be out of date, plus the original assessment was undertaken in
winter months. It concluded the following:
 Bird species – common bird species on site, need for precautionary
measures to avoid nesting season and seek seed producing landscaping
details to improve foraging opportunities.
 Bats – No significant change since the original survey in 2019 with only
foraging/commuting bats, with negligible potential for roosting bats due to
the lack of structures and trees.
 Reptiles the nature of the site has the potential as basking habitat for
reptiles, prompting a specific reptile survey for the site.
 A bespoke reptile presence/absence survey was undertaken in 2021,
comprising of 7 visits. Whilst existing survey records suggest 3 sightings
of slow worms in the locality (the nearest being 200m to the north-2011),
there are no records from the site itself, and despite its moderate potential,
none were found during the survey. (The presence of domestic cats is
likely to diminish the likelihood of their presence). It was therefore
concluded that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
population of reptiles, with no need for additional surveys.
 Invertebrates –given the existing cover supporting bees/butterflies, it is
recommended meadow and ruderal species be included in the proposed
development.
 Other considerations e.g. otters, badgers, otter, red squirrel, and great
crested newt, refer to original survey findings with no evidence of activity
during the survey.
11.49. The overall conclusion is that there is no significant change since 2019 resulting
in the mitigation measures of the original report remaining valid and sufficient to
address the requirements of policy S35.
Contaminated Land
11.50. The application was supported by a ground investigation report. Environmental
Health have required these be updated and recommend standard conditions
safeguarding remediation and verification.
Affordable Housing
11.51. The scale of housing development proposed (as amended which reduced the
size of the site to ensure the plans matched) at eight dwellings, as a minor
development, does not trigger the requirement for the provision of affordable
housing under the criteria of the updated NPPF.

Page 36

Local Financial Considerations
11.52. Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There are
matters regarding the New Homes Bonus Scheme and Council Tax Revenue for
the Council. This has carried no weight in the determination.
12.

Conclusion

12.1. Each application is judged on its individual merits. The principle of the
development is acceptable as a sustainable location within the village which is
well related to its surroundings.
12.2. The application site itself has few constraints, but officers acknowledge the
existence of the existing culvert traversing through the site and recognise the
flood history of the immediate locality, which had prompted local representations,
especially in the context of cumulative concerns with the nearby approved
housing development for 100 dwellings. This larger development also utilises
surface water drainage via the existing watercourse of Gale Brook. Having
secured a flood risk assessment/drainage strategy, which takes into account
cumulative impacts, the findings have been accepted by the LLFA. Therefore,
subject to securing the mitigation measures recommended, it is considered that
this issue has been satisfactorily investigated and resolved. Any cumulative
highway concerns have diminished as a result of the larger housing scheme
being accessed via Hill Farm.
12.3. Officers consider there are no other major constraints impacting on the
development of the site. The principle of housing development at this location is
acceptable and the proposal is recommended favourably, in compliance with
the adopted policies of the Allerdale Local Plan Parts 1 and 2.
Recommendation
GRANT subject to planning conditions.
Annex 1
Conditions/Reasons

1.

Prior to the commencement of works, details of the scale and appearance,
and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in
accordance with the provisions of the details of the town and country Planning
(General Development Procedure) Order 1995.

2.

Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential
development of up to 8 dwellings, the development hereby permitted shall
be carried out in accordance with the following plans:

Page 37

60790-01 Rev A Site location plan (amended) 28/07/22
Amended plan (60790:10 Rev D) received 9/12/21
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy Part 1
(30/05/2022)
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy Part 2
(30/05/2022)
Amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy Part 3
(30/05/2022)
Amended Dwg 078467-CUR-00-XX-DR-C-90003 Surfacing plan and
details Rev P01 (received 12/07/2022).
Amended Dwg 078467-CUR-00-XX-DR-C-92003-P01 Excccedence flow plan
received (30/06/22)
Amended 078467-CUR-XX-XX-CA-D-92001-V02 Surface water calculations
received (30/06/22)
Amended Ecological Assessment survey report 11/10/2021
Amended reptile survey report 11/10/21
E-mail dated 9/12/21 confirming reserved matter means of access within
the application.
Reason: To ensure a satifctory housing density for the development.
3.

Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential
development of up to 8 dwellings, the submission of all reserved matters
applications shall be made no later than the expiration of 3 years beginning
with the date of this permission and the development shall begin no later
than whichever is the later of the following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission,
or
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last
such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

4.

Excluding drainage works, no development shall be undertaken within a
three metre easement to each side of the route of Gale Brook watercourse,
whether that be the open or culverted sections of the watercourse.
Reason: To enable the future maintenance and management of the watercourse,
in the interests of proper drainage and reducing flood risk, in accordance with
Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

Page 38

Pre commencement
5.

Prior to the occupation of any of the dwellinghouses hereby approved the
development shall be completed, maintained and managed in accordance
with the conclusions, recommendations principles set out in the
amendment 078467-CUR-00-XX-RP-Z-92001 P02 Drainage strategy (Parts 13) dated 30/05/2022 and its accompanying associated floor levels,
appendices, drawings and calculations.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution and to promote sustainable
development, secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and
pollution from surface water in compliance with Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local
Plan (Part 1) (July 2014) and policies within the NPPF and NPPG.

6.

No development shall commence until a construction surface water
management plan has been agreed in writing with the local planning
authority.
Reason: To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard
against pollution of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems.

7.

The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be designed,
constructed, drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and
in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections and a
footpath link to Beech Grove, shall be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval before work commences on site. No work shall be
commenced until a full specification has been approved. Any works so
approved shall be constructed before the development is complete.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of
highway safety.

8.

Development shall not commence until a Construction Traffic Management
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The CTMP shall include details of:
• details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
• retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading
or their specific purpose during the development;
• cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
• details of proposed wheel washing facilities;
• the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage
or deposit of any materials on the highway;
• construction vehicle routing;
• the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway
and other public rights of way/footway;
• Details of any proposed temporary access points (vehicular /
pedestrian)
Reason: To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely
impact upon the fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the
interests of highway and pedestrian safety.

Page 39

9.

Prior to development commencing, a Construction Environmental
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following:
a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the
development, including on -site parking and turning for site and staff traffic;
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries.
All measurements should make reference to BS7445.
c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light
pollution.
d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to wildlife species
during construction.
e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the
construction;
f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and
demolition;
g) Programme of work for Construction phase;
h) Hours of working and deliveries;
i) Details of lighting to be used on site.
j) Appropriate pollution prevention guideline measures to include
biosecurity, materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the control
and management of noise, dust, surface water run-off and waste to protect
Gale Brook and any surface water drains from sediment, and pollution from
cement or fuel.
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the
development.
Reason : In the interests of amenity and safeguarding ecological interests and
biodiversity in compliance with policies S32 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan
(Part 1) (July 2014).

10. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been
carried out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its
potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The
scope of works for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of works.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

Page 40

During operational works
11.

Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment under
condition 10, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation
options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and programme of
the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

12.

Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 11, the approved
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

13.

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All work shall be
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

14.

Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report
carried out by a qualified drainage engineer shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority, to demonstrate that all
sustainable drainage systems have been constructed as per the agreed
scheme. This verification report shall include:
1) As built drawings for all Suds components - including dimensions
(base
levels, inlet/outlet elevations, areas, depths, lengths, diameters,
gradients etc.);
2) Construction details (component drawings, materials, vegetation);
3) Health and Safety file;
4) Details of ownership organisation/adoption details.

Page 41

Reason: To ensure that all sustainable drainage systems are designed to the
DEFRA non-statutory technical standards in accordance with the NPPF

15.

Vehicular access to the development site herbey approved shall solely be
via the existing access onto Beech Grove estate, Seaton.
Reason : In the interests of highway safety.

16.

The development hereby approved shall only be undertaken in full
accordance with the recommendations and mitigation measures outlined
in the submitted ecological report ref Amended Ecological Assessment
survey report dated 11/10/2021.
Reason : In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity in
compliance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

17.

No residential dwelling shall be constructed above ground level until full
details of the layout, maintenance and management of the public open
space (the corridor adjacent to Gale Brook watercourse) have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
public open space shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the
completione dwellinghouse on the site and retained for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of open space in accordance with
the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2, S4, S24, S25, S26 and
DM14 and safeguard the future maintenance corridor of Gale Brooks
watercourse of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July 2014).

Prior to occupation
18.

No dwelling shall be occupied until the estate road, including footways and
cycleways to serve that dwelling, have been constructed in all respects to
base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate
road, has been provided and brought into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

19.

Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling, details for that dwelling shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority of
either:a) Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to broadband
infrastructure providers during the construction process to allow the
providers to install the necessary broadband infrastructure; or
b) Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure providers,
that it is not practicably or viably possible to install broadband
infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by Government
standards) fibre broadband connectivity.
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by Government
standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with policy SA33 of the
Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 (July 2019).

Page 42

20.

Any landscaping scheme submitted at the reserved matters stage shall
include retention of the existing hedgerow on the western boundary of the
site, together with measures for its protection during the construction of
development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within any
approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out in the first planting
season following completion of the development and any trees or plants
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced in the next planting season with other similar size and species,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and
minimise the impact of the development in the locality and improve biodiversity
in compliance with policy S33 and S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (July
2014).

21

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory Instrument
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no
development falling within Classes A, E and F of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the
said Order for Plots 1-4 of the development hereby approved shall be
carried out without the prior written permission of the Local Planning
Authority upon an application submitted to it.
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any proposed
alterations/extensions/ outbuildings and hardstandings in the interests of
safeguarding existing water utility infrastructure, ensure a satisfactory standard of
surface water drainage for the site and minimising flood risk in compliance with
Policy S29 of the Allerdale local plan (Part 1).

Note to applicant
Prior to any work commencing on the watercourse the applicant should contact the
Environment Agency to confirm if Flood Defence Consent is required.

Page 43

Page 44

Agenda Item 6
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application OUT/2022/0010
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:

Applicant:
Proposal:

OUT/2022/0010
23/03/2022
Land at Causeway head
Opposite New Rose Cottage
Silloth
Mark Orchard
Outline planning application for residential
development with all matters reserved (resubmission)

RECOMMENDATION
REFUSE
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

The dwelling lies outside and detached
from any settlement limit therefore is
development within the open countryside.
The applicant has not evidenced any
location need for dwellings in this location.
The proposal would therefore constitute
non-essential development in an
unsustainable open countryside location
contrary to Policies S1, S2 and S3 of Part
1 of the Local Plan and Policies SA2 and
SA4 of Part 2 of the Local Plan.

Highway Issues

Access is to be considered as part of this
application. There are a number of trees
located along the highway boundary that
could impede visibility from the site. In the
absence of detailed information from the
applicant relating to the proposed access
and associated visibility splays they have
failed to demonstrate that a safe and
adequate access can be achieved to serve
the development in line with Policies S4
and DM14 of the Local Plan Part 1.

Page 45

Trees

The existing trees offer a high level of
visual amenity to the area. In the absence
of an arboricultural assessment the
applicant has failed to demonstrate the
trees will not be harmed by the
development.

Drainage

In the absence of a Flood Risk
Assessment and the fact that the
application site represents a small island
surrounded by Flood Zone 3 land, the
applicant has not been able to adequately
demonstrate that the proposal site can be
safely development and that it will not
increase flood risk elsewhere in line with
Policy S29 of the Local Plan Part 1.

2.

Proposal

2.1.

The proposal seeks outline consent for two open market residential dwellings.
The indicative layout plan submitted with the application shows two detached
dwellings.

2.2.

Whilst the description states that all matters are reserved, in line with
Government guidance, officers wrote out to the applicant informing them that
access needed to be considered as part of the current outline consent.

2.3.

The Plans for consideration are:DWG 200 Location Plan
Dwg No 101 Rev A Indicative Site Plan
Non-Mains Means of Drainage Assessment
Ecological Statement
Planning Statement

2.4. The particulars are available to view via the following link:https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planningapplication/a3X3X00000B9EpcUAF/out20220010

3.

Site

3.1.

The application site is located at Causewayhead 0.6km southeast of the
settlement of Silloth. The site is relatively flat and is currently unused agricultural
land. Fields border the site to the east, south and west with the highway
immediately to the north. Two dwellings lie on land to the north of the highway.

Page 46

There are a number of mature trees along the periphery of the site including the
highway boundary.
3.2.

Approximately 150m to the southeast of the site lies a cluster of commercial and
residential buildings. These are owned and operated by the applicant. The
applicant also owns the land to the southwest of the site down to the highway
junction on the same side of the highway as the application site.

3.3.

This site is located on a localized area of Flood Zone 1, immediately adjacent to
Flood Zone 3. The designated main river Causewayhead Beck runs
approximately 16m to the south of the development site.

4.

Relevant Planning History

4.1.

OUT/2021/0025 Outline application for residential development with all matters
reserved, Land opposite New Rose Cottage, Causewayhead – Withdrawn to
undertake a Flood Risk Assessment.

5.

Representations
Parish Council

5.1.

No objections. The Parish Council are in full support of the proposed
development. This site has become an eyesore over the years, and this would
tidy it up. The proposed buildings would also compliment other properties in the
vicinity of the development. There needs to be more affordable properties for the
younger generation, as many struggle to get on the property ladder.
Environmental Health

5.2.

No objections subject to conditions relating to contamination land and a
Construction and Demolition Method Statement.
Butterfly Conservation Cumbria

5.3.

No reply to date.
Natural England

5.4.

No objections.
Historic England

5.5.

No advice offered.
Environment Agency

Page 47

5.6.

We note that the red edge boundary for this application closely follows the
boundary of flood zone 3, appearing to specifically exclude FZ3 from the
development site and therefore removing the requirement for a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF).

5.7.

However, in this confined location where the surrounding land is at high risk of
flooding, an FRA would inform how the site could be developed safely. The Flood
Map for Planning cannot be taken as being 100% accurate at this detailed scale.

5.8.

We strongly advise that the applicant undertake a topographical survey and
request flood risk ‘product 4’ from the Environment Agency. This would allow an
understanding of potential flood depths around the site. It would also provide an
understanding of future flood risk, taking climate change into account, as
required by the NPPF.

5.9.

We would have no fundamental objection to development of this site, which we
consider could be developed safely in regard to flood risk. But we do recommend
that an FRA would inform the proposals and facilitate a safer development.
United Utilities

5.10. Our records show that there are no known public sewers in the vicinity of the
proposed development.
5.11. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG) advise that surface water from new developments should be
investigated and delivered in the following order of priority:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Into the ground (infiltration);
To a surface water body;
To a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
To a combined sewer.

5.12. United Utilities will request evidence that the drainage hierarchy has been fully
investigated and why more sustainable options are not achievable before a
surface water connection to the public sewer is acceptable.
Cumbria Highways / LLFA
5.13. The application site joins the U2029 within a national speed zone (60mph). The
applicant would need to show that visibility splays of 215m in both directions are
fully achievable measured from a point of 2.4m into the site from the carriageway
edge and at a height not exceeding 1.05m above the carriageway. The splays
need to be measured to the nearside kerb and cannot be obstructed by
trees/walls/fences. It is noted that adjacent to the site there are trees that are
likely to obstruct the splays. To make this acceptable to the highway authority,
the trees would need to be cut back and maintained providing they are within the
ownership of the applicant.

Page 48

5.14. If these requirements are not achievable, we strongly recommend a speed
survey is carried out and the 85th%ile speed results submitted for review.
5.15. Upon receipt of further information, we will be better placed to make a final
recommendation.
Solway Coast – AONB Unit
5.16. No reply to date.
5.17. The application has been advertised as a departure from the local plan by site
notice, press notice and neighbour letter. Three letters of support have been
received.
5.18. A letter of objection has been received on the grounds that the site lies outside of
Silloth settlement limits, the development of this site risks creeping urbanisation
of what is still a small rural settlement at West Causewayhead. It would set a
precedent.

6.

Environmental Impact Assessment

6.1.

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017

6.2.

The development does not within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA
development.

7.

Duties

7.1.

Does the site affect the setting of a listed building?
No

7.2.

Is the site within a designated conservation area?
No

7.3.

Is the development likely to have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000
designation?
No

8.

Development Plan Policies

8.1.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development
Policy S2 Sustainable Development

Page 49

Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 Design Principles
Policy S5 Development Principles
Policy S6e Area Based Silloth
Policy S22 Transport Principles
Policy S28 Hadrian’s Wall World Heritage Site
Policy S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 Reuse of Land
Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity
Policy S33 Landscape
Policy S35 Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy DM14 Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland
8.2.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)
Policy SA2 Settlement Boundaries
Policy SA4 Custom and Self-Build Housing
Policy S33 Broadband

9.

Other material considerations

9.1.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)

9.2.

Allerdale Council Strategy 2020-2030

10.

Policy weighting

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.
11.

Assessment:
Principle of development

11.1. Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) sets out the settlement hierarchy for
Allerdale. It defines the settlement hierarchy, which sets out the role of
settlements, including the form of scale of development that would be expected
within the towns and villages and what is acceptable in the open countryside.
Policy SA2 of Part 2 of the Local Plan adopted July 2020 details the settlement
boundaries.

Page 50

11.2. The development seeks outline consent for the erection of 2 open market
dwellings. The proposal site lies outside of any settlement limit and therefore
would be considered as development in the open countryside.
11.3. Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework February 2021 is
applicable to the proposal. Within this, it is indicated that planning decisions
should avoid the development of isolated homes in the countryside.
11.4. Figure 5 of Policy S3 is in line with paragraph 80 of the NPPF and details
proposal outside of defined settlements will be limited to:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.

Housing essential for rural workers in the operation of a rural based enterprise;
Housing following the rural exceptions policy;
An appropriate diversification of an existing agricultural or land based activity;
The optimal viable use of a heritage asset or appropriate enabling development
to secure the future of heritage assets;
A recreation or tourism proposal requiring a countryside location;
Facilities essential to social and community needs;
The replacement of an existing dwelling;
A suitably scaled extension to an existing building;
The conversion or reuse of a suitable existing building;
Other development requiring countryside location for technical or operational
reasons.

11.5. The applicants supporting statement details that it is intended that one of the
dwellings would provide his daughter with a place to live in close proximity to the
business he owns to the north east of the application site. They advise that there
are currently very few houses on the market within the Silloth area combined
with a period of rapid price rises which means it is impossible for his daughter to
access the housing market. This application would enable a self-build unit on
land owned by the family. They argue that there is a shortage of self-build plots
and the need for the applicant’s daughter to build a house as a way into the
housing market is a material consideration which would enable relaxation of
planning policy in locational terms.
11.6. A local search of houses for sale in Silloth does highlight 2 and 3 bed units
available ranging from £95,000 - £180,000.
11.7. Policy SA4 of the Local Plan Part 2 is relevant to custom and self-build units. The
policy supports self-build proposal where the development complies with policy
S3 and other relevant policies, is well related and commensurate to the size of
the settlement and the plot(s) can be adequately serviced in terms of highway
access, drainage and other utilities.
11.8. The applicant has not demonstrated any locational need for his daughter to live
at the site or any need in relation to the additional plot, therefore in officers
opinion fails to comply with any of the above criteria and is contrary to Policy S3
of Part 1 of the Local Plan.

Page 51

11.9. In sustainable terms the site could not be considered to be in a sustainable
location. It is 0.6km from the settlement of Silloth which offers shops etc and
0.63km from the village of Blitterlees. There are no footpaths along the highway
network into Silloth from the site and therefore it would be highly car-dependant.
Such substantial reliance on car borne journeys is not sustainable.
11.10. Whilst the site may not be entirely isolated as the applicant details 2 dwellings
are sited on the opposite side of the highway it cannot be argued that it is
sustainable or well related to the adopted settlements. It is significantly detached
from the town of Silloth and Blitterlees village. The proposal would introduce
new development on a rural greenfield site that is currently undeveloped and
outside any defined settlement limit. The proposal therefore also fails to comply
with policy SA4 of Part 2 of the Local Plan.
11.11. Officer consider the proposal would result in non-essential development in an
unsustainable open countryside location contrary to Policies S1, S2 and S3
(ALPP1) and Policies SA2 and SA4 (ALPP2).
Highways
11.12. The applicant has requested that all matters be reserved. However, on the
officer’s assessment of the site it was noted that there are a number of trees
along the road frontage. The size, number and location of these trees within the
highway boundary could significantly hinder visibility when leaving the site. The
applicant was therefore requested that access needs to be considered as part of
the current application. A plan showing the location of the access to the site
including visibility lines and a tree survey was requested. No further information
has been received.
11.13. Policy S4 and DM14 of Part 1 of the Plan and SA2 of Part of the Local Plan
requires new development to function well by ensuring suitable standards of
vehicular access are achieved. Policy S22 details new development should be
located in areas to reduce journey times and have safe and convenient access
to public transport and key and service centres.
11.14. Paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires “safe and
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users”.
11.15. The application site joins the U2029 with a national speed limit of 60mph.
Therefore the required visibility is 215m in each direction set back 2.4m from the
carriageway edge and at a height not exceeding 1.05m above the carriageway.
The splays cannot be obstructed by trees/walls/fences.
11.16. The indicative site plan shows 200m to the southwest where the highway meets
the junction with the B5301, but only 120m is shown to the northeast. No speed
survey has been provided to demonstrate a lower distance is acceptable on this
occasion. The applicant has therefore been able to demonstrate that the length
of visibility splays required can be achieved. Furthermore there are a number of
trees within the roadside boundary in both directions which are above1.05m in

Page 52

height and could significantly impact on the visibility when exiting the site
resulting in a potential highway hazard.
11.17. Highway and Planning Officers consider that insufficient information has been
submitted with the application to demonstrate that a safe and adequate access
can be provided to serve the development and therefore it has not been
demonstrate that the proposal complies with policies S4 and DM14 of the Local
Plan Part 1.
Trees
11.18. The planning statement states “the trees which are situated to the periphery of
the site will be retained as far as possible and a new planting feature will be
created to the boundary to the wider field system which will increase biodiversity
on the site”.
11.19. Whilst the submitted indicative layout plan includes trees along the highway
frontage to the southwest no existing trees to the northeast of the site are
shown. There are a number of mature trees along the highway that offer
significant visual amenity to the area. Officers would not wish to see these
impacted or removed to accommodate the proposal. The visibility splays as
shown on the indicative plan to the southwest show that a number of these tree
do fall within the splays. Although not shown on the plans officers consider this
would be the same for the trees when looking to the right when leaving the site.
11.20. The value of these trees have been assessed by the Councils Tree Officer and a
group Tree Preservation Order has been served on the owner for the trees that
fall within his ownership. The trees include Sycamore, Ash Hawthorn & Alder.
11.21. Policy DM17 requires existing trees that are considered important to the
character of the area to be protected. In the absence of an arboricultural
assessment the applicant has failed to demonstrate the trees will not be harmed
by the development.

Flood Risk and Drainage
11.22. The revised red line on the current application has been drawn tighter than that
under OUT/2021/0025, to site all of the development within Flood Zone 1 and in
technical terms negate the need for a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The
adjacent land lie within Flood Zone 3.
11.23. The Environment Agency have detailed that in this confined location where the
surrounding land is at high risk of flooding, a FRA would inform how the site
could be developed safely. The Flood Map for Planning cannot be taken as
100% accurate at this detailed scale and without a FRA the applicant will not be
able to understand the local flood risk.
11.24. The applicant was requested to submit a Flood Risk Assessment but none has
been received.

Page 53

11.25. Paragraph 159 of the National Planning Policy details “inappropriate
development on areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing
development away from areas at highest risk. Where development is necessary
in such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime without
increasing flood risk elsewhere.”
11.26. Paragraph 162 of the NPPF advises that the aim of the sequential test is to steer
new development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding from any source. The
sequential approach should be used in areas known to be at risk now or in the
future from any form of flooding. Given that the red line has been drawn so the
development falls within Flood Zone 1 the lowest risk of flooding the sequential
test and exception test are not required.
11.27. Paragraph 167 of the NPPF details LPA’s should when determining any planning
application, ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, and where
appropriate should be supported by a site specific FRA and take account of
climate change. This is in line with the requirements of Policy S29 of the Local
Plan.
11.28. In the absence of a Flood Risk Assessment and the fact that the application site
represents a small island surrounded by Flood Zone 3 officers consider that the
applicant has not been able to adequately demonstrate that the proposal site
can be safely development and that it will not increase flood risk elsewhere.
Mitigation measures may be necessary to protect the dwellings from flood risk
for the future and these should be considered as part of a FRA.
11.29. The submitted information details that surface water will be discharged to the
watercourse that runs to the south of the site. Foul will be via a new shared
treatment plant.
11.30. United utilities advice that surface water drainage should be investigated and
delivered in line with the national hierarchy which firstly requires surface water to
be disposed by infiltration to the ground before a connection to a surface water
body would be accepted. The application has not submitted any investigation of
ground conditions to demonstrate that ground infiltration cannot be achieved on
the site. A full FRA would also include an investigation into drainage for the site,
taking into account climate change and any impact the development would have
on flood risk off site.
Amenity
11.31. The application site sits detached from any immediate development. On the
opposite side of the highway lie two sporadic dwellings. Officers consider that an
appropriate design of dwellings and boundary treatments could be achieved that
reflect the rural nature of the site whilst protecting the amenity of the existing
dwellings.
Contamination

Page 54

11.32. The Environmental Health Department recommend conditions be attached to any
planning approval to assess the potential for any land contamination.
Local Financial Considerations
11.33. Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will
have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax
Revenue.

12.

Conclusions

12.1. The applicant site lies outside any adopted settlement boundary, detached from
the town of Silloth and Blitterless village constituting a greenfield site lying in an
unsustainable location with an open countryside location. The applicant has
failed to demonstrate any locational need for the two dwellings within this
location. It is considered residential units at this site would form non-essential
development in the open countryside contrary to Policies S2 and S3 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) and Policies SA2 and SA4 of the Allerdale Local
Plan (Part 2).
12.2. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that an acceptable and safe vehicular
access can be achieved for the site whilst protecting and retaining the existing
established trees along the highway frontage. Furthermore in the absence of a
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Assessment the applicant has failed to
demonstrate a safe form of development can be achieved in line with Policy S29
and the NPPF that will not increase Flood Risk elsewhere and to ensure the
dwelling is protected from flooding for its lifetime.
13.

RECOMMENDATION
REFUSE

Page 55

1. Annex 1
REASONS FOR REFUSAL

1. The proposed development constitutes non-essential residential
development within the open countryside. The proposal is detached
from the built settlement of Silloth located in an unsustainable location
due to the lack of any pedestrian link to Silloth, and as a result there
would be a high reliance on car-borne journeys to access services and
facilities. The proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies S1, S2
and S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and
Policies SA2 and SA4 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2), Adopted July
2020.
2. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that a safe
and adequate vehicular access can be achieved to the site whilst
protecting the existing Trees within the frontage boundary of the site
with the highway. The proposal has therefore not been able to
demonstrate compliance with Paragraph 110 of the National Planning
Policy Framework and Policies S4, DM14 and DM17 of the Allerdale
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.
3. In the absence of a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Assessment
the applicant has failed to demonstrate that the proposal site can be
safely developed ensuring that the dwellings will be safe for their
lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. The proposal has
therefore failed to demonstrate compliance with paragraphs 159 and
167 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S29 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 56

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58

Agenda Item 7
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application
Development Panel Report

Reference Number:

FUL/2022/0118

Valid Date:

26/05/2022

Location:

Land adjoining Barncroft, 16 High Seaton, Seaton,
Workington, CA14 1PB

Applicant:

Deo Properties Ltd

Proposal:

Proposed Detached Dwelling

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT planning permission subject to planning conditions
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

The site falls within the settlement limits of
the adopted Part 2 of the Local Plan.
Seaton is included as part of the Principal
centre (Workington) in policy S3 of the
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. This Centre is
expected to absorb 35% of the total
housing growth provision across the Plan
period.
The site is in a sustainable location and
well related to the existing built form of
Seaton.

Highways

This is a modest proposal of one dwelling.
The Highway Authority have confirmed that
there are no objections to the proposed
access arrangements.

Page 59

Drainage

There are no known critical drainage
problems or surface water flooding records
for the site. The Lead Local Flood Authority
raise no objections in relation to the
drainage proposals which have been
approved under previous applications.

Ecology

There are no records of any protected
species on the site which forms part of a
larger building plot and there is therefore
no impact on ecology.

2.

Introduction

2.1

The application is brought before Development Panel due to its history.

3.

Proposal

3.1

The proposal seeks planning approval for one 1.5 storey detached house sitting
within the existing row of dwellings along High Seaton. The frontage of the house
faces into the site which is under construction. The main gables element is along
to place the ridge in parallel to High Seaton. Dormer windows are placed to face
into the site with roof lights on the elevation towards High Seaton. The ridge
height is 7m and the eaves 3.4m.

3.2

The site will be accessed by both vehicles and pedestrians with the dwellings
currently under construction which were granted under application reference
FUL/2021/0026.

3.3

The Plans for consideration are:•
•
•
•
•
•

01002 Rev 01 - Location Plan
04011 Rev 03 - Site Block Layout
04002 Rev 02 - Proposed Floor Plans
05001 Rev 04 - Proposed Elevations
04030 Rev 01 - Details of proposed boundary treatment between 16 and 17
High Seaton
Design and Access Statement

4.

Site Description

4.1

The development site is to the side of Barncroft (also known as 16 High Seaton),
a two storey dwelling which was historically constructed as a barn and whilst it
retains some historical character is largely viewed as a dwelling now. The site
has been cleared in advance of possible development. The current boundary

Page 60

between 16 and 17 High Seaton is part block wall (erected following the removal
of planting) and part hedgerow.
4.2

The immediate character of the area is residential in nature. There is a wide
range of building types. The site is within 400m of Seaton Infants’ School, a Post
Office/ Shop and the cycle/footway to Workington.

5.

Relevant Site History

5.1

The following applications are considered to be of relevance to decision taking:
1. 2/2004/1296 Erection of detached house and garage, as amended by letter
and plans received on 24 November 2004 - approved
2. 2/2015/0337 - Outline application for the erection of a single storey dwelling Resubmission outline refused, appeal allowed
3. FUL/2020/0043 - Proposed erection of one detached house (Type A) and
two dormer bungalows (Types B and C) on land adjoining no 16 High Seaton
- Refused at Development Panel - unacceptable impact on residential
amenity of no 17 High Seaton. Appeal dismissed as no information on
boundary treatment to 17 High Seaton
4. FUL/2020/0026 - Proposed erection of 2no 3 bed dormer dwellings (Type B
& C) resubmission of FUL/2020/0043 - Approved and under construction
5. FUL/2022/0009 - Detached dwelling with garage - withdrawn

5.2

Permission has also been granted for a detached garage within the grounds of
16 High Seaton and for extension and alteration to the existing house which have
been carried out.

6.

Representations
Seaton Parish Council

6.1

Concerns with overdevelopment of the site, vehicle ingress and egress and the
overbearing impact on the neighbouring property.
United Utilities

6.2

Recommend that the drainage hierarchy in relation to surface water be followed.
Highways Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority

6.3

Cumbria County Council have commented on the proposal that as the details are
the same as the previous application in relation to both access and drainage
there is no objection to the proposal.

Page 61

Environmental Health
6.4

Previously commented on former applications stating no objections but in
accounting for its immediate environment and local representations seek
conditions regarding noise mitigation, protection from noise levels on Seaton Rd
(specified levels), construction hours of operation and noise monitoring and
contamination.

6.5

The application was advertised on site and via neighbour notification letters. A
letter of objection has been received which raises the following issues:
• Design and orientation is out of keeping with the rest of the neighbourhood;
• Overdevelopment and the plot density would be significantly out of keeping
with the High Seaton area;
• Loss of residential amenity in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy;
• Loss of residential amenity in terms of loss of sunlight ;
• Impact on highway safety around the Fernleigh junction and the main road;
• Impact on the environment in relation to loss of habitat;
• Concerns over increased flooding due to the development reducing the soak
away capacity of the site, the capacity of the culvert and the structural
integrity of other dwellings;
• Concerns over impact on social infrastructure such as schools and shops.

7.

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1

With reference to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment Regulations 2017, the development falls within neither Schedule 1
nor Schedule 2. As such it is not EIA development.

8.

Duties

8.1

Does the site affect the setting of a listed building?
No

8.2

Is the site within a designated conservation area?
No

8.3

Is the Development likely to have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000
designation?
No

9.

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
Policy S1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development

Page 62

Policy S2 Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 Design principles
Policy S5 Development Principles
Policy S7 A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S22 Transport principles
Policy S29 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S32 Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 Landscape
Policy DM14 Standards of Good Design
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)
Policy SA2 Settlement limits
Policy SA33 Broadband

10.

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2020-2030
Environmental Bill 2021

11.

Policy weighting

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.

12.

Assessment
Principle

12.1 Policy S1, S2 and S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 outline the presumption in
favour of sustainable development, requiring new development to adhere to
sustainable principles and comply with the Borough’s approved settlement
hierarchy. The main role and function of different areas is set through this
strategy.
12.2

Seaton forms part of the Workington Principal Centre for the purposes of the
Local plan and the delivery of housing and other development. As such the
majority of housing development is expected to be delivered in this area.

Page 63

12.3

The site falls within the settlement boundary and is within 400m of the Infants’
School, shops and a short distance to the foot/ cycleway to Workington. Bus
stops are also within acceptable walking distances. The location is therefore
considered to be sustainable when considering residential development.

12.4

The level of growth at one unit is minimal in relation to the overall size of Seaton.
An objection has been received in relation to the potential impact on social
infrastructure such as schools etc. It is considered the addition of one property
would not cause demonstrable harm. No consultees have noted in this or any
previous application that there would be an impact on service and infrastructure
capacity. The development is considered to be commensurate with the scale of
the settlement.

12.5

The development is considered acceptable in principle.
Residential amenity

12.6

Policy S32 of the Local Plan Part 1 seeks to ensure new developments do not
have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of existing properties.

12.7

The site has a long history and has been refused and dismissed at appeal (ref
APP/G0908/W/21/3270521). The main point of contention being the impacts of
the development on 17 High Seaton the adjacent property.

12.8

In terms of the impacts on 17 High Seaton, the ground levels of the proposed
development site are significantly lower than those of the neighbouring property;
sitting at approximately 1.5m below. A hedgerow has been removed in part and a
block wall erected alongside the built form of No 17. The dwelling type is the
same as previously considered under reference FUL/2021/0049. A following
application FUL/2022/0009 was withdrawn following concerns over the
‘workability’ of the boundary treatment detail between No17 and the development
site.

12.9

As a recap, the application was submitted under reference FUL/2020/0043 as a
two storey dwelling with a gable feature facing High Seaton. This application was
refused at Planning Panel and a subsequent appeal dismissed. The Planning
Inspector noted that they were satisfied that the relationship between the two
properties would be acceptable with regards to the privacy of opposing windows.
The change in floor levels was noted and the Inspector found that due to No17
being at a higher level and having its main outlook from windows to the rear,
there would not be an undue sense of enclosure and the outlook of the
occupants of the property would not be adversely affected. In relation to impacts
on loss of light or overshadowing, the Inspector concluded that the setback from
the boundary and the presence of windows on the front elevation of No 17 result
in no significant harm being caused to the living conditions of occupants on No17
in this regard.

12.10 The issue which could not be resolved related to the treatment of the boundary
between the proposed development and No17. The application details in this
regard lacked a clear section detail and how a fence could be provided. Given
the uncertainty over those details, the impacts on No17 were considered to

Page 64

potentially cause harm and therefore the application was concluded to be
unacceptable.
12.11 An amended application was also made whilst the appeal was running, the
application in relation to the dwelling was the same as the current application.
The proposed dwelling is a 1.5 story house with an off shoot feature extending
towards High Seaton. In particular consideration has been given to the boundary
treatment between the plot and No17 in order to form a permanent boundary
which will protect the amenity of No17 in particular. The proposal in the previous
application was to plant the space in-between the two walls forming the retaining
feature. It was considered that this could not be controlled appropriately by the
Local Planning Authority and that it would not robustly control the potential
conflict between the two uses.
12.12 Further to the withdrawn application, a new boundary treatment is proposed
which is to attach a 1m high obscure glazed panel to the top of the wall. The
planter box would remain in place to the rear which is within the control of No17
and would be unaffected by the proposal. The details show the current block wall
at 1.7m when taken from the ground level of the proposed site. It is
approximately 1m when taken from the path level of No 17, an additional 1m of
glazing to the top of the wall. The glazing is a long term solution which can be
fully controlled through an appropriate planning condition. The obscure glazing is
considered to be an appropriate mechanism to ensure that the amenity of No17
specifically in relation to the potential for overlooking which was identified by the
Planning Inspector as the point at which harm was caused. In addition to this, the
dwelling refused on appeal had patio doors facing onto No17 which the Inspector
noted would be likely to concentrate outdoor activities, there is now only 1
window in the elevation. This window is obscure glazed.
12.13 It is the opinion of Officers that the proposal details which have been received
are sufficient to meet the concerns of the Inspector at the previous appeal, the
glazing feature is permanent, unaffected by weather conditions and above to be
fully controlled by planning condition. In addition, the removal of the patio door
from the details which were the basis of the appeal further reduce the impact on
residential amenity as it removes a feature for outdoor activity concentration.
12.14 There are to be roof lights in the North East roof space but given the height of the
roof lights in relation to floor levels, it is not considered that these would have an
unacceptable impact upon the amenity of neighbouring property (specifically
No17) in terms of overlooking.
12.15 With the inclusion of planning conditions regarding the installation of the glazed
feature, the removal of permitted development rights for any further openings
within the north east elevation (adjacent no17) and agreement of the finished
floor levels, it is considered that no demonstrable harm would be caused and the
proposal is in accordance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1.
Landscape and character

12.16 Policies S33 and S4 of the Local Plan Part 1 are particularly relevant. The low
density of development and mature landscaping is particularly noticeable on the

Page 65

southeast side of High Seaton. The frontage hedges and trees are typical of a
much more rural village than Seaton. Despite the proximity to the village centre
and the more suburban character that prevails in the wider locality. Barncroft is
typical of this character, although its appearance has been diluted by
development in its curtilage and the addition and alteration to the original
structural.
12.17 The proposed dwelling will sit within this frontage, the acceptability of this
element, in a landscape impact sense, is secured by the positioning between two
existing dwellings and the setting back significantly from the road. It is
considered that the existing natural landscaping, which is to be retained, will
ensure landscape harm is low.
Housing mix and design
12.18 Polices S4, S5 and S7 of the Local Plan Part 1 are considered of relevance in
consideration of mix and design.
12.19 The existing architectural character of the area is mixed. Dwellings range from
C18th (potentially before to modern dwellings. There are a range of two storey
and single storey homes with a range of detached and semi detached units.
There is a range of materials with stone, reconstituted stone, render and brick
and no overall window type. Plot ratio are mixed with no overall type. The
settlement is very much a community which is balanced and mixed evident in its
housing stock.
12.20 The proposed is considered to respect the overall character and appearance of
the settlement in this locality. The proposal is considered to accord with Policies
S4, S5 and S7 of the ALLP1.
Highway safety
12.21 Policies S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 are relevant. The site is in
a sustainable location. Concerns have been raised by neighbours over highway
safety and the impact of further vehicles on the road.
12.22 The access will be taken from Fernleigh Drive and is already formed for the
access to the dwellings which are under construction. The application has been
subject to consultation with the Highway Authority who have confirmed that as
with the previous application, there are no objections to the formation of the
access. Visibility splays have already been provided and there are no indications
that highway safety would be compromised. The NPPF notes that ‘Development
should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residential cumulative impacts on
the road network would be severe’.
12.23 The proposal will not have significant impact on highway safety or the road
network and therefore is in accordance with Policy S22 of the Allerdale Local
Plan Part 1.

Page 66

Flood risk and drainage
12.24 The site is within flood zone 1, the preferred location for the delivery of new
housing. There are no known critical drainage problems or surface water flooding
records for the site.
12.25 There are no objections from the Lead Local Flood Authority who note that the
proposals are in line with those previously put forward for the site. It is
understood that there is a culverted watercourse which runs across the site
which drains into the public sewer. These will continue to do so following the
completion of the development.

12.26 A condition is appended to those proposed to ensure the implementation of the
surface water drainage system based on the previous conditions put forward by
the Lead Local Flood Authority.

13.

Local Financial Considerations

13.1. Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There are
matters regarding the New Homes Bonus Scheme and Council Tax Revenue for
the Council. This has carried no weight in the determination.

14.

Balance and conclusions

14.1 The proposal has been considered against the provisions of the development
plan. The appeal history has also been taken into account and it is considered
that the proposal now meets the requirements to protect residential amenity with
the removal of the patio doors and the installation of a permanent feature to
protect the privacy of No17. The site inside of the Part 2 settlement limits in a
sustainable location. The residential uses compatible with the prevailing
residential uses and considered to be appropriate in terms of design and
massing. With the addition of conditions relating to permitted development rights
and the installation and maintenance of the obscure glazed boundary treatment it
is considered there will be no unacceptable harm to residential amenity.

15.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT planning permission subject to planning conditions
Annex 1

CONDITIONS
Time Limit:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.

Page 67

In Accordance:
2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in
accordance with the following plans:
i. 01002 Rev 01 - Location Plan
ii. 04011 Rev 03 - Site Block Layout
iii. 04002 Rev 02 - Proposed Floor Plans
iv. 05001 Rev 04 - Proposed Elevations
v. 04030 Rev 01 - Details of proposed boundary treatment between 16 and
17 High Seaton
vi. Design and Access Statement
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement conditions:
3.

No development pursuant to this permission shall commence until there
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:‐
(a) a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all the
previous and existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in accordance
with national guidance as set out in Contaminated Land Research Report
Nos. 2 and 3 and BS10175:2011; and
(b) a site investigation report documenting the ground conditions of the
site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as being
appropriate by the desk study in accordance with BS10175:2011‐
Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites ‐ Code of Practice; and
(c) a detailed scheme for remedial works and measures to be undertaken to
avoid risk from contaminants/or gases when the site is developed. The
scheme must include a timetable of works and site management
procedures and the nomination of a competent person to oversee the
implementation of the works. The scheme must ensure that the site will not
qualify as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 and if necessary proposals for future maintenance and
monitoring. If during any works contamination is encountered which has
not been previously identified it should be reported immediately to the
Local Planning Authority. The additional contamination shall be fully
assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme, agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority. This must be conducted in accordance with
DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Contamination Land
Guidance at: https://www.gov.uk/contaminated‐land, Last accessed
October 2019.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other

Page 68

offsite receptors to accord with policy S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1),
Adopted July 2014.
4.

No development shall commence until details of the finished ground floor
level of the dwelling expressed as a height Above Ordnance Datum (AOD)
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local Planning
authority. The finished floor level shall be implemented and retained as
approved.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity of No. 17, High Seaton, in
accordance with Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July
2014

5.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage
scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National
Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site
conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after
completion) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The surface water drainage scheme must be in
accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable
Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national
standards. In the event of surface water draining to the public surface
water sewer, the pass forward flow rate to the public surface water sewer
should be restricted to existing greenfield runoff for any storm event.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:
6.

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until there has
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the
competent person approved under the provisions of condition 3(c) that any
remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of
condition 3(c) has been implemented fully in accordance with the approved
details (unless varied with the written agreement of the Local Planning
Authority in advance of implementation). Thereafter the scheme shall be
monitored and maintained in accordance with the scheme approved under
condition 3(c), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can
be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other
offsite receptors and to accord with policy S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part
1), Adopted July 2014.

7.

The dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied until the vehicular
access have been completed in accordance with plans: • 04011 Rev 03 _
Site Layout The said access shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of
the development.

Page 69

Reason: In the interests of highways safety and to ensure no increase in flood
risk on site and to adjoining properties and to accord with policy S22 and the
drainage hierarchy in policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July
2014.
8.

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until the
boundary details on the approved plan 04030 Rev 01 - Details of proposed
boundary treatment, between 16 and 17 High Seaton have been fully
implemented in accordance with the approved details. The boundary
treatment shall thereafter be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with Policy S32 of
the Allerdale Local Plan, Part 1, Adopted July 2014

9.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory
Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification)
no development falling within Classes A, B, C and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2
of the said Order shall be carried out to dwellings B and C without the prior
written permission of the Local Planning Authority upon an application
submitted to it.
Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over and proposed
alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site and
safeguard the amenities of adjacent properties to accord with policy S32 of the
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10.

Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority of either:a) Evidence that the applicant will provide onsite access to broadband
infrastructure providers during the construction process to allow the
providers to install the necessary broadband infrastructure; or
b) Evidence, following contact with broadband infrastructure providers,
that it is not practicably or viably possible to install broadband
infrastructure to achieve superfast (as defined by Government
standards) fibre broadband connectivity.
Reason: To seek to secure sustainable superfast (as defined by Government
standards) fibre broadband connectivity in accordance with policy SA33

Advisory Note
Any works within the Highway must be agreed with the Highway Authority. No works
and/ or any person performing works on any part of the Highway, including verges, will
be permitted, until in receipt of an appropriate permit allowing such works. Enquiries
should be made to Cumbria County Councils Street works team.

Page 70

Page 71

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72

Agenda Item 8
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:

LBC/2022/0029

Valid Date:

29/06/2022

Location:

Pear Tree House, Blennerhasset, CA7 3RE

Applicant:

Mr Chris Spencer

Proposal:

Listed building consent for replacement of windows, repairs to
the east chimney and repairs to painting to external wall to all
elevations of property

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Heritage

The building is a Grade II listed property
within the Conservation Area. The
proposed works are to replace the
properties existing range of external
window fenestration and undertake repair
works to the properties chimney plus paint
its exterior. The window works mainly
affect modern elements of the building and
combined with the repair works /repainting
are considered to represent an appropriate
repair with minimal impacts.

2.

Introduction

2.1

This matter is being brought before members as the applicant is an employee of
the Council.

Page 73

3.

Proposal

3.1

The proposal is for external alterations to the exterior of the building. The works
include:
•
Replacement windows to the property;
•
Repair of eastern chimney stack;
•
Re-render exterior of the building;
•
Repainting the exterior of the property.

3.3

The Plans for consideration are:
Location Plan
Dwg 032 PR WIN
Dwg 032 PRWIN
Dwg 032 PRDIN-DET
Dwg 02 rev 01 GF floor plan
Applicant’s amended email and plans dated 18th August 2022 revising the
proposed double glazed sliding sash multipane windows to the gable with
alternative replacement single glazed timber sliding sash windows and details of
the rear elevation sliding sash windows.

4.

Site

4.1

Pear Tree House is Grade II listed with Winder Cottages; Pear Tree House is
probably one of the oldest remaining properties within Blennerhasset (Bremner
2006). The property is of rubble stone construction with large projecting plinth
stone foundations. The property shares several significant architectural features
with Winder Cottages including similar distinctive inscribed lintels – ‘I. N. 1686
God Fears’ in the case of Pear Tree House and ‘W. & M.B. 1678 Feare God’ at
No
3, Winder Cottages. The properties also share similar chamfered window
surrounds with drip moulds above.

4.2

Pear tree House has been extended to the rear with a 2nd storey flat roofed
addition constructed on top of ground floor rubble stone walls. The interior layout
of the property has been significantly altered when the rear extension was added
but original features remain including rough-hewn structural beams, chamfered
stone door surrounds and the original layout can still be read.

4.3

The site is located within a designated Conservation Area.

5.

Relevant Planning History

5.1

There have been several applications relating to the site:
2/2006/0834 Full planning permission for the demolition of existing garage,
construction of a single storey side extension, and replacement of 4no. Windows
to from of dwelling, as amended by letter and plan received 23 August 2006.
2/2006/0835 Listed building consent for demolition of existing garage,
construction of a single storey side extension, and replacement of 4no. Windows
to from of dwelling, as amended by letter and plan received 23 August 2006.

Page 74

LBC/2021/0028 Listed building consent for the installation of an electrical vehicle
charging point to the boundary of the wall.
LBC/2022/0012 Listed building consent approved for replacement of a roof
covering and rooflights on modern flat roof extension to the rear of the building
(former window details submitted with this application were withdrawn)

6.

Representations
Parish Council

6.1

The parish council has considered the application and feel that as a building is in
a listed building and a Conservation area the proposed replacement windows
and any replacement windows should be like for like.
Historic England
The proposal does not fall within their consultation criteria.
Other representations

6.2

The application was advertised on site and in the press. There have been no
other letters of representation.

7.0

Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Assessment) Regulations 2017

7.2

The development does not fall within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA
development.

8.0

Duties

8.1

Does the site affect the setting of a listed building?
Yes. Sections 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 states in considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works
the local planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural of history interest which it possesses.

8.2

Is the site within a designated conservation area?
Yes. Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 requires that special attention
shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of a Conservation Area.

Page 75

8.3

Is the Development likely to have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000
designation? No

9.0

Development Plan Policies
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
Policy S1
Policy S2
Policy S27

10.0

Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Sustainable development principles
Heritage Assets

Other material considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

11.0

Policy weighting

11.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.

12.0

Assessment

12.1

Policy S27 states that the historic environment including all heritage assets and
their settings will be conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their
intrinsic historic value and significance, their importance to local character,
distinctiveness and sense of place, and to other social, cultural, economic or
environmental benefits/ values.

12.2

Pear Tree House is Grade II listed. The listing reads as follows:
List Entry: 114445
House. Dated and inscribed over entrance I.N. 1686 GOD FEARE with C20
alterations. Painted roughcast walls, enlarge projecting plinth stones, under
graduated greenslate roof with painted roughcast chimney stacks. C20 door in
chamfered surround under Tudor arch, with date and inscription, and hoodmould.
C20 lead-paned casements windows in original chamfered surrounds, with stone
mullions removed, under continuous drip mould on ground floor and under
individual hoodmoulds above. Quatrefoil window over entrance. Side wall left has
C20 door and sash windows with glazing bars in C19 painted stone surrounds.
C20 extension to rear is not of interest.

12.3

The building is significant both architecturally and historically, in itself and within
the setting.

Page 76

12.4

The purpose of the proposed works is to undertake repairs, as parts of the
building are in poor condition and require replacement which where feasible seek
to utilize more green insulation energy efficient measures. The applicant advises
this includes consideration of:






12.5

Respecting the buildings heritage and aesthetic
Maximizing light to the property
Maximizing thermal efficiency
Providing a means of egress in the event of fire
High quality craftsmanship replacements

The key consideration relating to the merits of the proposal is whether the
proposed works erode the significance of the building including any of its historic
assets and features, as well as whether it safeguards its setting especially given
the properties prominent corner location within the settlement fronting onto the
open village green. The proposal relates to a range of alterations each of which
can be individually examined:
a) Windows. The existing windows on the property are a broad mixture of
differing materials, designs and means of opening.
 The front multipane metallic windows casement windows on the front
elevation are the most prominent to public view and influence the
visual appearance of the front façade of the building onto the village
green. The earlier approved consent 2/2006/0834 acknowledged these
were 20th century replacements and proposed their replacement with 4
pane black powder coated aluminum windows within the original
window openings (these details were not implemented). Thus it has
been previously acknowledged that these are not the original historic
windows to the property and whilst noting the comments of the parish,
their removal and replacement as a modern details do not harm the
historic fabric of the listed building. The proposal seeks to reinstate
replacement timber materials in a double glazed multipane design.
The design and means of opening seek to replicate that of the existing
windows. The applicant has made reference to similar multiplane
double glazed windows approved on two other listed buildings
elsewhere in the village at Winder cottages under LBC/2019/0032 and
LBC/2022/0014. Overall whilst acknowledging the perimeter frames
are slightly wide, given the reinstatement of traditional materials, not
impacting on an original features it is concluded the proposed works
have a neutral impact and therefore may accepted.
 Sliding sash gable windows. As these windows are traditional in their
design, materials and means of opening officers had reservations on
there replacement with double glazed units especially given their
multipane design. The applicant contests these are not original but
alternatively has amended the proposal to replace them with identical
single pane timber sliding sash to match the existing i.e. a repair.
 There are two very modern top hung timer windows on the rear flat
roof extension which are to be replaced with timber double glazed
multipane casement windows. As modern windows, replacing modern

Page 77



windows, it is considered these windows, whilst visible to public view
from the roadside are also not harmful with a similar neutral impact.
The final windows relate to two small 4 pane windows on the rear
elevation. It is also understood these were installed under the
construction of the flat roof extension to the property and therefore
albeit adopting a traditional design are also not original. The applicant
seek to replace these with double glazed pane sling sash windows.
This would not result in the enlargement of the existing window frames
but would omit the vertical bar. As these are also not original windows
and would retain a traditional window type on an elevation not
prominent to public view, these details are also considered acceptable.

b) Chimney repairs: An existing stack on the east end of the building is showing
signs of cracking with lifting of the cement render. The render will be removed
to assess the extent of any damage and repairs will be undertaken to
reinstate the stack on a like for like basis (but with an alternative lime render
mix). Officers consider these works to the chimney itself constitute repair
works which subject to an identical replacement would not require listed
building consent with the alternative more traditional lime render finish being
welcomed.
c) Replacement render finish/ painting. To external walls. The proposal also
outlines the intent to replace the existing cement render external finish with
an alternative lime render, but this may be more long term ambition. Officers
consider the principle of replacing the existing modern cement render with a
traditional lime render is welcomed and supported. The painting of the
building (repeating its existing blue finish does not require listed building
consent. Therefore it is considered that the proposal will not cause harm to
the listed building or its setting.

Local Financial Considerations
12.6

Having regard to S70 of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will
have no local financial considerations.

13.0

Conclusions

13.1

The proposal’s extensive range of alterations, will cause minimal, if any, harm to
the listed building significance or its setting. The proposal predominantly relate to
existing modern, rather than traditional, aspects and features of the building.
Overall officers consider these will either preserve or enhance the character of
the building, which in turn will also conserve the appearance and setting of the
Conservation Area. Therefore, it is considered that listed building consent should
be granted.
RECOMMENDATION
Grant subject to conditions

Page 78

Annex 1
CONDITIONS
Time Limit:
1.

The works hereby consented shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 18(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

In Accordance:
2.

The works hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with
the following plans:
Location Plan
Dwg 032 PR WIN
Dwg 032 PRWIN
Dwg 032 PRDIN-DET
Dwg 02 rev 01 GF floor plan
Applicant’s amended email and plans dated 18th August 2022 revising the
proposed double glazed sliding sash multipane windows to the gable with
alternative replacement single glazed timber sliding sash windows and
details of the rear elevation sliding sash windows.
Reason: In order to ensure that the works are carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans, and for then avoidance of doubt as to what
works are consented, and any material and non-material alterations to the
scheme are properly considered.

Page 79

6 .Om
Old Cobblers
Shop
.

The B

Page 80

Agenda Item 9
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application FUL/2022/0105
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:

Applicant:
Proposal:

FUL/2022/0151
06/07/2022
Allerdale Customer Service Centre
Fairfield Car Park
South Street
Cockermouth
Mark- Anthony Midgley
Provide detached smoothie hut

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT
1.

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Principle of Development

The application site is on Fairfield Car
Park in Cockermouth which is owned by
Allerdale Borough Council. The application
comprises a timber clad shipping container
to be used as a smoothie hut.

Highway Safety

The proposal does not fall within the
criteria for consultation with Cumbria
Highways however, no new accesses are
required and Allerdale Parking Services
were satisfied that the proposal would not
impact upon parking within the car park.

Other issues

The site is outside of Cockermouth
Conservation Area and near to a Public
Right of Way which crosses the car park.
The proposal is not considered to affect
either.

2.

Proposal

2.1.

The application is for the siting of a detached smoothie hut.

2.2.

The Plans for consideration are:-

Page 81

DWG01 Existing Plan
DWG02 Proposed Plans
The particulars are available to view via the following link:https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X00000Hm262UAB

Site
2.3.

The application site comprises a section of public car park within the Town
Centre of Cockermouth. It is adjacent to the Conservation Area and serves a
Supermarket and other businesses.

2.4.

Vehicular access is available to the car park via South Street to the North and
Station Road to the South as well as a pedestrian access via Station Road to the
East and Gallowbarrow to the West which is via a Public Right of Way. The area
for development is in the South Western corner of the car park to the rear of both
Fairfield Infant and Junior School.

2.5.

The development is proposed on Allerdale owned land and is directly behind an
existing shipping container that is used to store item's for the Town's market.

3.

Relevant Planning History

3.1.

FUL/2021/0266 - One small shipping container (14.79sqm) to store market
gazebos- Approved with conditions

4.

Representations
Cockermouth Town Council

4.1.

Recommend Approval.
Environmental Health

4.2.

No objections however advised that any food business should be registered.
Other representations

4.3.

The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour letter. No third
party representations have been received to date.

5.

Environmental Impact Assessment

Page 82

5.1.

With reference to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the development is not within Schedule 1 nor 2
and, as such, is not EIA development.

6.

Duties

6.1.

Does the site affect the setting of a listed building?
No

6.2.

Is the site within a designated conservation area?
No

6.3.

Is the development likely to have a significant effect upon a Natura 2000
designation?
No

7.

Development Plan Policies

7.1.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)
Policy S1 Presumption in Favour of Development
Policy S2 Sustainable Development
Policy S4 Design Principles
Policy S5 Development Principles
Policy S32 Safeguarding Amenity
DM14 Standards of Good Design
DM15 Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings and Properties

7.2.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2)

8.

Other material considerations

8.1.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021)

9.

Policy weighting

9.1.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that,
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy.

Page 83

10.

Assessment:
Principle of development

10.1.

The proposal is for the siting of a standard shipping container 6060x2440mm
which will be clad in timber, it will entail a serving hatch to the Southern elevation
which looks onto the carpark and serve a smoothie business.

10.2.

The container will be sited in the grounds of Allerdale's former Customer Service
Centre which is also in use by the applicant. The boundary wall is stepped and
the container will fit satisfactorily behind the wall which is also directly abutting
Allerdale’s existing shipping container on the main car park.

10.3.

The ground level slopes downwards from the South to the North of the car park
and the shipping container itself will sit 0.47m below the ground level of the car
park meaning less than 1m of the side elevation will be visible. The total height of
the container is 1.3m. In terms of its scale, the shipping container is considered
appropriate and proportionate with the site, it is large enough to serve its purpose
and small enough to sit sympathetically into its surroundings

10.4.

The timber cladding will create a more positive appearance which is appealing to
its customers. The car park is bound by a stone wall, trees and several stone and
rendered buildings, it is not considered that the timber cladding would have an
adverse impact on the area. The Conservation Area boundaries the car park and
has a sufficient distance to not be impacted upon.

10.5.

The applicant is currently working to develop the former Customer Service
Centre into a car wash and looks to expand his business premises in the form of
the smoothie hut. The proposal is considered acceptable and is in a suitable
position to target users of the existing facilities in the area.

10.6.

From the front elevation (East) The building would not be visible due to the
screening of the existing shipping container in situ, the Northern elevation is
shielded by the former Customer Service Centre and the West looks on to the
boundary wall of Fairfield Infant School which is bound by a high stone wall. The
only visible elevation will be the South which is where the serving hatch is
positioned and will be no higher than the roof of the Customer Service Centre.

10.7.

There are some derelict overgrown steps on the site which will be removed to
make way for the shipping container and the land levelled to a flat surface prior to
installation. The area of car park in which the business will serve is not marked
out for parking bays and would not impact the parking spaces on the car park. A
site meeting took place will Allerdale Parking Services where the scheme was
explained and no objections were received as a result.

Page 84

10.8.

The size of the shipping container means that the development was not subject
to a sequential test due to its small floorspace. The threshold for a retail unit
within Cockermouth Town Centre is 300sqm, the proposal is 16.64sqm.

10.9.

Regarding the opening hours for the proposal, they are to target a daytime
audience. The opening hours stated in the application are 8.00-16.00 Monday to
Friday and 10.00-14.00 Saturday. The business will not be open on Sundays or
Bank Holidays however this would be accepted should a change be put forward.

11.

Conclusions

11.1.

On balance there are no concerns regarding the proposal in terms of residential
amenity, car parking, highways, odour or noise. The design, external finishes and
siting of the smoothie hut is acceptable and is sited to minimise the effect on the
surrounding area. It is considered that the area will benefit from this
development.

12.

RECOMMENDATION
GRANT

Page 85

Annex 1
CONDITIONS
Time Limit:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

In Accordance:

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance
with the following plans:
DWG01 Existing Plans
DWG02 Proposed Plans
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations
to the scheme are properly considered.

Advisory Note

Page 86

Q
Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88

Agenda Item 10
Allerdale Borough Council
Planning Application WTPO/2022/0010
Development Panel Report
Reference Number:
Valid Date:
Location:
Applicant:
Proposal:

WTPO/2022/0010
11/07/2022
Hill Farm, Causeway Road, Seaton
Trustees of the Copsey family Trust
Works to TPO
Proposed felling of t1 and t5 because of Ash dieback.

RECOMMENDATION
Grant the felling of the Ash trees T1 and T5 (subject to a condition securing the
planting of a heavy duty replacement oak trees for each tree)

1.0

Summary

Issue

Conclusion

Amenity value

The trees were protected as part of a
cluster of mature individual trees within the
grounds of Hill Farm which are of amenity
value as a landscape feature within the
streetscene.

Justification

The loss of both of Ash trees T1 and T5 is
on the grounds of evidence of Ash dieback
which has increased since member’s last
consideration of the works. It results in it
representing a safety threat to the
occupiers of the neighbouring bungalow
(1a Causeway Rd, Seaton)
The applicant had previously agreed under
the earlier TPO application to scale their
initial felling request for T1 down to an
alternative of 40% crown thinning works,
albeit it was acknowledged the condition of
the tree will need to be monitored in the
future.

Page 89

2.0

Introduction

2.1

To recall, on 5th January 2018 a tree preservation order (TPO/1/2018) was made
following the felling of a mature tree on the eastern perimeter of Hill Farm’s
grounds. The TPO was made as a group designation and was modified during
the course of the assessment deleting the individual tree T6 from the order due
to concerns about its health. The final confirmed TPO group designation
comprises of 7 Sycamore trees (ref: T2, T3, T4, T7, T8, T9 and T10) and 2 Ash
trees (ref T1 and T5).

2.2

Works to these protected trees were considered under WTPO/2020/0023 at a
panel meeting in March 2021. Members initially had deferred the application at
an earlier meeting of the Development Panel to enable an exploration of
alternatives to the felling of the trees. An independent Arboriculturist revisited the
tree for a peer assessment and the application was modified in response to the
recommendations. It was resolved to allow the felling of T5 subject to a
replacement heavy duty tree and allow 40% crown thinning to T1 which would be
the subject of further review.

3.0

Proposal

3.1

The proposal solely relates to ;a) The felling of the Ash tree T1 and T5.

3.2

Albeit the tree report refers to proposed works to other protected trees at the site,
the applicant has confirmed that the proposal solely relates to the specific trees
T1 and T5, thus the details under consideration under WTPO/2022/0010 are:



Application form registered 11/07/22
Hill Farm tree report dated 29th June 2022
e-mail and plan dated 5/08/22 confirming the proposal solely relates to
trees T1 and T5.

3.3.

As the council has previously granted consent for the felling of T5, this is not a
consideration under the current proposal, subject to securing the replacement
tree as under the former approval.

4.0

Site

4.1

The application site is located within the grounds of Hill Farm, Causeway Road,
Seaton. The protected trees form a line on the western and southern boundaries
of the site.

4.2

The neighbouring land to the south is occupied by a residential bungalow (1a
Causeway Road).

5.0

Relevant planning History

Page 90

5.1

The current tree works application was prompted by a review of the health of the
two Ash trees following the council’s previous TPO works decision in 2021. They
had been initial been surveyed as part of the approved housing estate
development under 2/2018/0493 but then resurveyed again under the tree
preservation order application in response to the later complaint on safety
grounds .

5.2

Tree T6 had been omitted from the made TPO due to an identified wound. This
individual tree, irrespective of the wound, still had the potential to contribute to
the landscape amenity. Subsequently, the Council made a separate TPO
(TPO/2020/0014) to protect this neighbouring sycamore.

6.0

Representations

6.1

These comments relate to the proposal prior to its amendment (it now proposing
the loss of trees T1 and T5).
Seaton Parish Council

6.2

Object to the felling of the TPO trees, as it is of the understanding that trees can
recover from Ash dieback. Both trees are in full leaf. The council consider that it
is just over 12 months since an application for the felling of the trees was
submitted and in questioning what may have changed in such a short time refers
the planning authority to the overall motives of the applicant. It would suggest
that if the authority is minded to consider the application, it arranges an
independent survey to guide its understanding.
Other representations

6.3

No other representation shave been received

7.0

Legal background

7.1

The primary legislation relating to Tree Preservation Orders is the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by section 192 of the 2008 Planning Act.
The 1990 Act provides the ability for secondary legislation to be made setting out
the statutory framework for the making and confirming of Tree Preservation
Orders. Currently this is the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation)
(England) Regulations 2012 which came into force on 6 April 2012.

8.0

Development Plan policy
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 (2014)

8.1

Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands is relevant as are the
accompanying supporting paragraphs. Paragraph 399 (on page 180) advises
that trees will be expected to be replaced in a 2:1 ratio although the paragraph

Page 91

explicitly refers to where development resulting in the loss of trees, which is not
the case here.

9.0

Other policy guidance

9.1

Following the publication of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the
government commenced the on-line National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG) to replace guidance such as circulars. The NPPG is a live document that
can be updated. In terms of assessing applications for works to/felling of
protected trees, the NPPG advises as follows;“In considering an application, the local planning authority should assess the
impact of the proposal on the amenity of the area and whether the proposal is
justified, having regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in
support of it. The authority must be clear about what work it will allow and any
associated conditions.”1

9.2

The following paragraph2 of the NPPG provides a series of bullet-pointed criteria
for the Authority to consider;a) Assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of
the proposal on the amenity of the area;
b) consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is
justified, having regard to the reasons and additional information put
forward in support of it;
c) consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused
or granted subject to conditions;
d) consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;
e) consider other material considerations, including development plan
policies where relevant; and
f) ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision;
g) assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of
the proposal on the amenity of the area;
h) consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is
justified, having regard to the reasons and additional information put
forward in support of it;
i) consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused
or granted subject to conditions;
j) consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;
k) consider other material considerations, including development plan
policies where relevant; and
l) ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.

1

Paragraph: 089 Reference ID: 36-089-20140306 Revision 6/3/14 Accessed at
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
2

Paragraph: 090 Reference ID: 36-090-20140306 Revision 6/3/14 Accessed at
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas

Page 92

10.0

Assessment

10.1

The trees are considered to be prominent features which are clearly visible within
the streetscape on Causeway Road and it is accepted that the trees are of
amenity value. The grounds for undertaking the works to the 2 Ash trees is solely
due its diseased status. The applicant’s tree consultant‘s report considers the
condition of T1 gives cause for concern as it has deteriorated in its condition
since the earlier surveys in 2018 and 2020. The tree has lost leaf density and is
likely to be suffering from Ash dieback which is prevailing in the area.

10.2

In order to evaluate the merits of this application, given the views of both the
parish council and the considerable former debate by members in seeking to
minimise the extent of any tree works under the earlier application, the Council
commissioned an independent peer assessment of the trees.
The conclusions of the peer assessment were:
a) T1- reference is made to the councils earlier decision on this application
which a 40% crown thinning and removal of overhanging branches. In
assessing the works two methods were adopted: visual assessment and
QTRA (Quantified Tree Risk Assessment).
 Accept that the tree is suffering Ash dieback and has shown greater
decline since the original per assessments in 2018 and 2020. The
existing targets associated with this tree are the dwelling, however
the room potentially impacted is the kitchen and where the occupier
would be alert when in this room and have a greater chance of
escaping a failing tree.
 Due to its separation distance from the dwelling the majority of any
failures would fall into the rear garden. There is also a garage on
the applicant’s site which is within the impact zone, but has not
been considered as it is within their control.
 In assessing options, albeit consent has been granted to carry out
works to retain the tree in a safe way, these have not been
undertaken. As a consequence the peer assessor is of the
professional opinion that the only option on safety grounds is now
to fell the tree.
 The option of pruning works is no longer applicable, as the tree is
already compromised and pruning works would add to stress to the
tree that could accelerate its decline and make it even more
susceptible to failure. Thus felling is the better option of safety
grounds subject to the planting of a replacement heavy standard
Oak tree.
b) T5; The peer assessment did also review the details of T5 but officers
given the former existing consent to fell the tree do not attribute any weight
to this part of the assessment i.e. the principle of the works has already
been accepted.

Page 93

10.3

Members were previously advised that the previous tree works application had
been prompted following safety concerns by the neighbouring property. However
the complainant did not specify what type of works were necessary and the
option to fell had derived from the re-examination of the trees by the applicant’s
arboriculturist. However, during the course of Panel’s former consideration of the
application, an objector questioned whether the preferable option of pruning was
feasible as this lesser extent of works would retain the amenity value of the tree.
This was supported by the ward councillor who advised he had been informed by
a tree surgeon that this was achievable.

10.4

However the current peer report concluded there was a ”significant risk” and due
to the distance of the tree from the targets of the dwelling, occupiers and
declining condition that removal is the only safe option.

10.5

It is considered necessary, on the grounds of future amenity value that a
replacement tree for T1, (similar to T5) is secured by condition. The number of
replacement trees has been carefully considered by officers with particular
regard to reasonableness and the proximity of the neighbouring properties.
Although paragraph 399 of the Local Plan Part 1 specifies a ratio of 2:1 for trees
lost as a result of a development proposal, this is not the case here and a 1: 1
ratio is considered appropriate.

11.0

Conclusions

11.1

The important amenity grounds for the initial TPO is not disputed.

11.2

There is no overlap of felling works associated with the former approved housing
development. The two applications are therefore independent with their own
bespoke grounds for undertaking their respective works.

11.3

This application has been amended during the course of its assessment omitting
some of the trees from the schedule of proposed works. Furthermore consent
has previously been recently granted for T5 to be felled. Given the findings of the
peer tree consultant’s reports on the safety concerns on the application’s
remaining Ash tree T1 and that these works are neither directly related to the
approved development or related to their amenity value, officers consider there
are reasonable and valid overriding safety grounds for the felling of the other Ash
tree T1 tree subject to the replanting of a replacement tree.
RECOMMENDATION
Grant the the felling of the Ash trees T1 and T5 (subject to a condition
securing the planting of a heavy duty replacement oak trees for each tree)

Page 94

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 96

